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Abbreviations

L

In this annual report, the following abbreviations have the following RAFHRA B X E BB - T E

meanings unless otherwise specified: BMEBANTRE :
“Memorandum and Articles Articles of Association
of Association”
[4E &% E A2 KA e 4R B B ABEREAER
"Board” Board of Directors of the Company
(5% g B AREZESRE
“Company” Enviro Energy International Holdings Limited
ZAYNCIN B IREERERERAR
"Companies Ordinance” Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong
INSIEESN B BAEEMF62E
"Directors” directors of the Company
(&%) B AREZES
"Group” the Company and its subsidiaries
[REE B  AREREMEBATR
“Listing Rules” Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
[ Er#R Bl B BRPEZF TR
"PRC” The People’s Republic of China
[HE B APEARANE
“SFO" Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong)
[ 3825 & BRE skl B RBELBABGI (FEEMNELNE)
“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
[ B8 <2 P | B BEBERSIMERRAT
“"HK$" and “HK cent” Hong Kong dollar(s) and cent, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
[ 7T] &L B BITEBI BERETEY
"RMB"” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the People’s Republic of China
(AR B AR%K hEARKNMENEEEE
“%" per cent.
[% | ¥ Btk
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Chairman’s Statement

RS

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | hereby
present the annual report of Enviro Energy International
Holdings Limited (the “"Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the "Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2023 (the “Year").

OVERVIEW

The Group principally engaged in sales of materials businesses
and properties investment in the People’s of Republic of China
(the "PRC").

During the Year, the Group's revenue significantly increased by
approximately 97.2% to approximately HK$531.5 million from
approximately HK$269.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 (the “Previous Year”) which mainly
attributable by jointly establishment of Hangzhou Junheng
Building Materials Company Limited* (471 & & 24 G BR A 7))
("Hangzhou Junheng”) with Hangzhou Zhongji Architectural
Decoration Engineering Co., Ltd.* (MM #EEEHTEHR
72 7)) ("Hangzhou Zhongji”) in October 2022, which allow the
Group enhancing its sales network and customer base in the
construction industry in the PRC.

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$24.3 million
for the Year (Previous Year: HK$252.4 million) was mainly
contributed by (i) absent of impairment loss on loan and interest
receivables during the Year (Previous Year: HK$215.3 million);
and (i) decrease fair value loss on investment properties by
HK$6.9 million.

PROSPECTS

With the unprecedented disruption caused by COVID-19 and
the Russian Ukrainian War to the aluminum supply chain
industry and the subsequent price fluctuation in aluminum
related products and increasing global freight cost in early 2022,
the Group has no choice but to temporarily suspend its principal
business in first half of 2022 to avoid erosion of working capital
in order to safeguard the interest of the Group. Nevertheless,
the Group continued to maintain its business relationship with
its customers and suppliers to look for collaboration
opportunities and a suitable timing for the resumption of
business between the parties.

AAEBRREZS ((EEE]) R2REH
BRERBERAR (TRQF]) REWE R
([ EE@B)EBEE_T-_=F+_H
St HAEFEIRFE]) 2FH-

BmE

AEBETERNPEARKME (THE]) K’
EHEMHREBRMERE -

RAFE AEEZWABRBE_T =
F+-_A=Z+—HLEEFETEE]D BHY
269.6 B BB L ARIEINL97.2% = 4
531 5BEEBIT NEEARNEE-_F
+ A BN EEREMTIEER AR (M
Mep ) KR AN IR E M B R A A
([P f]) - #FE UL EASE e s n
PEIRETEMNHEERKLERER -

AEERAFESRSEERFEN24388
BIL(EF 2524B8 88 L) HEEBRR)
AN S I A R U E R R B R SR E B 18
(EXF 215388 BL)  REEWELR
REEEERS6IBEST

Al

BEE COVID-19 J ik S B L sa b (L FE 52 7T
EXEFAMAARANTE BRI\EEHEE®
BEEE T _FNEHREERAR
BEA RTER2LZEESRLX X%E
PlEER QR _T__F FHFEE
TEXER UREANKEON G - AW -
AEBEERATP LB ESXKE
B UASKAEERERREETXBHNE
ELEE

RECEIRRIER AR AT / 2023 F 3k

5



6

Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

EFREHmE (F)

Notwithstanding the challenges of the inflation and price
instability in building materials, the management explored other
business opportunities based on its existing supply of building
material business network in the PRC and identified the
significant demand of building materials in the Hangzhou. In
October 2022, the Group and Hangzhou Zhongji jointly
established Hangzhou Junheng. The Group is responsible for
sourcing, procurement, quality control and selection of suppliers
for building materials, while Hangzhou Zhongji introduces
customers and new projects for construction and renovation
services to Hangzhou Junheng by its extensive business
networks including property developers in the PRC. The
Company is of the view that the establishment of Hangzhou
Junheng allows the Group to expand its sales channel, which
will provide more business opportunities to the supply of
materials business of the Group by enhancing its sales network
and customer base in the construction industry in the PRC, the
prospect look promising.

Year of 2023 has been a positive period for the Group. Since
the establishment of Hangzhou Junheng in October 2022 and
the optimisation of COVID-19 control policy in late 2022, we
have seen a trend of continued improvement in the
performance of our sales of materials business. Our confidence
in the long-term future of our sales of materials business
remains resolute.

The Company has been continuously reviewing its business
operations and financial position for the purpose of formulating
business plans and strategies for its future business
development, which would enable the Group not only to
develop its existing business divisions but also to capture
business opportunities, diversify its businesses and broaden its
income sources. The Company will endeavour to allocate its
resources in an efficient and effective manner and in the best
interest of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

APPRECIATION

Our continued success depends on all our staff's commitment,
dedication and professionalism. The Board would also like to
thank every member of our staff for their diligence and
dedication and to express our sincere appreciation to our
shareholders, business partners, clients and suppliers for their
continuous and valuable support.

Li Gang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CEAEREY S g

BUSINESS REVIEW

Enviro Energy International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
principally engaged in sales of materials businesses and
properties investment in the People’s of Republic of China (the
“PRC").

Since 2017, the Group commenced the sales of materials
business in the PRC, the materials mainly include aluminum,
steel products, timber logs, base metals, etc., which are
primarily used at the early stages of construction projects or for
manufacturing of building or surfacing materials.

The business provided steady income for the Group until it
experienced a downturn in 2019 and 2020. To refine its
business, the Group established warehouses in the PRC in early
2021 with inventory management to provide products readily
available for its customers. The warehouses are in close
proximity to major ports and its customers and suppliers in the
PRC, which may (i) allow the Group to respond to customers’
orders in a timely manner; and (ii) provide inventory
management services to customers, such as procurement,
inventory storage and delivery.

In late 2020, the Group started to expand its customer base to
international aluminum products manufacturers by leveraging
its foundation in sourcing aluminum ingots.

The Group experienced a temporary downturn of its principal
business in 2022 as a result of a number of force majeure
factors causing the abnormal and significant price fluctuation in
aluminum related products, including COVID-19 precaution
measures in the PRC, outbreak of the Russian Ukrainian War
and surge in international freight and shipping costs.

To safeguard the interest of the Company, the Group has no
alternative but temporary ceased the supply of aluminum and
related products to its overseas customers in 2022, while
exploring for other business opportunities based on its existing
supply of building material business network in the PRC.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEET R & 5T ()

In October 2022, the Group has jointly established Hangzhou
Junheng Building Materials Company Limited* (71 )4/ I &7 3 #4
A BR 2 7)) (“Hangzhou Junheng”) with Hangzhou Zhongji
Architeotural Decoration Engineering Co., Ltd.* (# )N i 2

E & T AR 2 F) (“Hangzhou Zhongji”). Accordingly, the
Hangzhou Junheng become a subsidiary of the Company.
Leveraging on the construction and renovation services
provided by Hangzhou Zhongji, the Group benefit for the
introduction of customers for downstream expansion, the
financial result of the Group was substantially improved since
then.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year"), the
sales of materials contributed a revenue of approximately
HK$530.3 million (year ended 31 December 2022 (the
“Previous Year”): HK$268.7 million), representing 99.8% of
total revenue of the Group (Previous Year: 99.7%).

The Group's investment properties comprise certain
commercial units and lands situated in Yingkou city, Liaoning
province, the PRC. During the Year, the Group’s rental income
amounted to approximately HK$1.2 million were generated
from properties investment (Previous Year: HK$0.9 million).

BUSINESS PROSPECTS AND FUTURE PLANS

With the experience accumulated in the aluminum industry, the
Group became aware that major international aluminum
products manufacturers have increasing interests in aluminum
related products from the PRC as their pricing are generally
more competitive as compared to other origins. Since late
2020, the Group began to supply aluminum related products,
including but not limited to, copper, magnesium and silicon
which are essential for the production of aluminum alloy. In
early 2021, the Group successfully became approved suppliers
for certain leading international aluminum companies.

RZTB-__F+F AEEEMMFH#E
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CEAERE LS L)

As the Group has successfully entered into the aluminum
supply chain industry with satisfactory results in its supply of
aluminum related products in the PRC and overseas, the Group
is ready to harness its business networks and experience to
transform from a supply of aluminum related products business
to a comprehensive aluminum related products and building
materials supplier with the inclusion of more value-added
services.

However, the Group have had an extremely challenging start to
2022. With the unprecedented disruption caused by COVID-19
and the Russian Ukrainian War to the aluminum supply chain
industry and the subsequent price fluctuation in aluminum
related products and increasing global freight cost, the Group
has no choice but to temporarily suspend its principal business
to avoid erosion of working capital in order to safeguard the
interest of the Group. Nevertheless, the Group continued to
maintain its business relationship with its customers and
suppliers to look for collaboration opportunities and a suitable
timing for the resumption of businesses between the parties.

Notwithstanding the challenge of the inflation and price
instability in building materials, the management explored other
business opportunities based on its existing supply of building
material business network in the PRC and identified the
significant demand of building materials in the Hangzhou.

In October 2022, the Group and Hangzhou Zhongji jointly
established Hangzhou Junheng. The Group responsible for
sourcing, procurement, quality control and selection of suppliers
for building materials, while Hangzhou Zhongji introduces
customers and new projects for construction and renovation
services to Hangzhou Junheng by its extensive business
network includes property developers in the PRC. The Company
is of the view that the establishment of Hangzhou Junheng
allow the Group to expand its sales channel, which will provide
more business opportunities to the supply of materials business
of the Group by enhancing its sales network and customer base
in the construction industry in the PRC, the prospect look
promising.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEET R & 5T ()

The Board will continue to look out for opportunities to make
investments in any business when suitable opportunities arise
to diversify revenue streams of the Group and strengthen the
Group's financial position, and thereby maximising the benefits
of the shareholders as a whole. The Board is fully confident in
the future business development of the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Year, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$531.5 million (Previous Year: HK$269.6 million),
representing an increase by 97.2% when compared with the
Previous Year.

The significant increase in revenue was mainly attributed to the
establishment of Hangzhou Junheng in October 2022, which
principally engaged in the supply of building materials to
construction and renovation projects in the PRC. The Group has
the advantage of sourcing building materials at a competitive
price and favourable credit terms, the Group’'s revenue
generated from supply of building materials have substantially
improved since the establishment of Hangzhou Junheng.

The Group's gross profit for the Year increased by HK$24.5
million to approximately HK$41.2 million (Previous Year:
HK$16.7 million). The overall gross profit margin increased from
6.2% for the Previous Year to 7.8% for the Year, which mainly
due to the lower gross profit margin for sales of building
materials in Previous Year for the purpose of expanding the
Group's client portfolio.

ExglelEsSHHeE RAEREKS
iR E RN EMER  AZ e AEBH
AR B g C A5 B0 B B55R00 - 1 1 &
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97.2% o
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CEAERE LS L)

The Group's administrative and operating expenses mainly
consisted of (i) staff costs; (ii) depreciation; (iii) legal and
professional fee; (iv) office and utility expenses; and (v) other
administrative expenses.

Administrative and operating expenses increased by HK$6.8
million or 67.9% from HK$10.0 million for the Previous Year to
HK$16.8 million for the Year, which was mainly due to (i)
recognition of exchange loss of HK$0.7 million during the Year
(Previous Year: exchange gain of HK$3.6 million); and (ii)
increase in staff costs and directors’ remuneration to HK$6.2
million during the Year (Previous Year: HK$5.2 million).

The Group's investment properties comprise certain
commercial units and lands situated in Yingkou city, Liaoning
province, the PRC. The valuation was carried out by an
independent professional valuer. The Group recorded a fair
value loss on investment properties amounted to HK$28.9
million for the Year (Previous Year: HK$35.8 million).

Trade receivables

The Group recognised loss allowances for trade receivables
based on management’s estimate of the lifetime expected
credit losses to be incurred, which is estimated by taking into
account the credit loss experience, ageing of overdue trade
receivables, customers’ repayment history and customers’
financial position and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions. Receivables relating to
trade debtors with known financial difficulties, dispute or
significant doubt on collection of receivables are assessed
individually for provision for impairment allowance. During the
Year, no loss allowance was recognised with respect to the
Group's trade receivables (Previous Year: HK$0.5 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CEIERE VS =)

Loan and Interest receivables

As disclosed in the 2021 Annual Report, the Auditor issued a
qualified opinion on the recoverability on the Loan Receivable
and Interest Receivable (defined hereafter).

Reference is made to the notes 20 in the financial statements
of the Company in the 2021 Annual Report. In 2017, Qianhai
Guoxing Financial Leasing (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* (A /& & 51 &
FE ORI E R A A ("Qianhai Guoxing”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Shenzhen Aquatic Products Co., Ltd* (&3
KE BB A7) (“Shenzhen Aquatic”), pursuant to which
Qianhai Guoxing should acquire the certain commercial
properties in Shenzhen (the "Properties”) at a consideration of
RMB150 million. On the same day, a finance lease agreement
was entered into between Qianhai Guoxing and Shenzhen
Aquatic, pursuant to which Qianhai Guoxing should lease the
Properties to Shenzhen Aquatic for a term of 3 years up to 27
December 2020. Upon maturity of the said finance lease
agreement, Shenzhen Aquatic should return the principal of
RMB150 million to Qianhai Guoxing (the “Loan Receivable”).

On the same day, Qianhai Guoxing further entered into another
agreement with Shenzhen Aquatic, pursuant to which Qianhai
Guoxing agreed to lease the Properties back to Shenzhen
Aquatic for a period of 3 years starting from 29 December 2017.
Lease payments, calculated as interest charged at a fixed rate
of 9% per annum against a principal of RMB150 million, were
repayable quarterly (the “Interest Receivable”). At the end of
the lease period, upon full settlement of all outstanding principal
and interest, Shenzhen Aquatic could repurchase the Properties
from Qianhai Guoxing for RMB1.

In 2021, the Group filed an application to the court for seizure of
the Properties from Shenzhen Aquatic in view of recovering the
Loan Receivable and Interest Receivable (the “Litigation”).
However, on 30 June 2022, the court ruled against the Group
based on the following principal reasons:

() the Group could not provide the original copies of the
relevant documents to the court, which the Group could
not locate after the Unauthorised Dilution as the
documents for Qianhai Guoxing was stored in the office
Qianhai Shitong in Shenzhen; and
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CEAERE LS L)

(i) Reference is made to the notes 34(b) in the financial
statements of the Company in the 2017 Annual Report.
On 13 December 2017, Qianhai Guoxing entered into a
loan agreement with Shenzhen Dongyin Financial Holdings
Co., Ltd.* URYITH R IR & @K A R 2 7)) (“Shenzhen
Dongyin”) to borrow RMB200 million. Based on the
record of the Company, Qianhai Guoxing draw down
RMB150 million from Shenzhen Dongyin and transferred
RMB150 million to Shenzhen Aquatic during 27 to 29
December 2017, where the loan from Shenzhen Dongyin
was fully settled by the Group before 31 March 2018.

As stated in the ruling, Shenzhen Aquatic alleged that, in March
2020, Qianhai Guoxing entered into an agreement (the
“Purported Agreement”) with Shenzhen Dongyin. Pursuant to
the Purported Agreement, it is alleged that the fund used for
financing loan transferred from Qianhai Guoxing to Shenzhen
Aquatic (the “Fund Source”) belonged to Shenzhen Dongyin,
therefore Shenzhen Aquatic claimed that it is not required to
repay to Qianhai Guoxing the Loan Receivable and Interest
Receivable as there are no substance regarding the Loan
Receivable and Interest Receivable.

Based on publicly available information, the ultimate beneficial
owner of Shenzhen Dongyin is Mr. Li Sen, the then controlling
shareholder and chairman of the Company who is now facing
criminal charges in the PRC. As the Purported Agreement is
dated March 2020, the current Board members were not aware
of the Purported Agreement and unable to verify its
authenticity.

Accordingly, the court considered the Group, as the plaintiff,
could not provide sufficient evidence to support Shenzhen
Aquatic is liable for the repayment of the Loan Receivable and
Interest Receivable, and the Group has no right to claim the
repayment of the Loan Receivable and Interest Receivable from
Shenzhen Aquatic. As such, the Company considered it is
uncertain as to whether the Group may recover the Loan
Receivable and Interest Receivable, impairment loss of
HK$215.3 million was therefore provided during the Previous
Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CEIERE RS

The Group’s finance costs mainly represented interest
expenses on other borrowings, shareholders’ loans, loans from
fellow subsidiaries and loans from related parties. The increase
in finance costs from HK$10.7 million for the Previous Year to
HK$12.0 million for the Year was mainly due to the increase in
average borrowings during the Year.

As a result of the foregoing, loss for the Year attributable to the
owners of the Company was approximately HK$35.8 million
(Previous Year: HK$257.0 million).

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximize the value of its shareholders (the
"Shareholders”).

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the amount of dividend payment to the Shareholders, issue
new shares, obtain bank and other borrowings, or sell assets to
reduce debt.

As at 31 December 2023, all other borrowings, shareholders’
loan, loans from fellow subsidiaries and loans from related
parties of the Group bore fixed interest rate, the maturity and
currency profile are set out as follows:

AEEZBEKRAK T EHEEAMERHEFH
X BREF KERREZMBERARZER
LREREBEBAEALZER -BEKRARZE
FZI07TABBTEMNERNFE 21208
BET DEBHRAFEFHEFIEM -

HRAIEEE ARG HE ARBEAEE
BB A3BSEEBIT(EF 257088
BIT) e

AEBEAERBZTEZARNIRERAEHE
SERE 2k URFREONEARL X
A FHEEBLFEERR ((RR])) EER
RAE

AEBEHEEARBETEE  IREL
BRAEHIEHHE - BT HRITHHARE
AEE AEEAESRBRABRIKNZ
RESHE BITHR BESROTLEME
R REEEENRIAE -

RZZB_=F+-A=+—8B Kr&EEMH
BHEMER BRREX XKBEREXWEARQ
AZEREKREBREAL ZEFGRE
EMEFR - BEMAREEBERHINWT

2nd to 5th
Within 1 year years Total
— R HZEERF Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET
Renminbi AR 196,682 3,949 200,631
Hong Kong Dollar BT 44,867 - 44,867
241,549 3,949 245,498
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEET R & 5T ()

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net
debts is calculated as the sum of other borrowings,
shareholders’ loans, loans from fellow subsidiaries and loans
from related parties, less bank and cash balances. Total capital
represents total deficit as shown on the consolidated statement
of financial position of the Group plus net debts. The gearing
ratios as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

AEBRBERNEBHL RETER - ZL
EDNRFEABRNERNEHAE - AEF
BOREMER BREER KERRK
E@ﬂZ%%&X@E%@AiZEﬂm
BN RRITRBESERTE - BEAER
h$%@@A%W#ﬂ%ﬂmZ%m%$
MaEFE RZTEZ_=Fk=-F=-=
+ZA=+t—RBZEAABLERNOT :

2023 2022

—E-=F ==
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Other borrowings HE R 200,631 202,287
Shareholders’ loans R E 11,410 9,986
Loans from a fellow subsidiaries RKERREZWBRARZER 29,570 28,139
Loans from related parties REBBEEATZZER 3,887 -
Less: Bank and cash balances o IRTT MR 4 (28,027) (8,143)
Net debts BEFHE 217,471 232,269
Total deficit 5 Al AR KB (63,884) (40,171)
Total capital BAR A= 153,587 192,098
Gearing ratio BEARBELE 120.9%

As at 31 December 2023, the total deficit attributable to the
owners of the Company was approximately HK$79.7 million (31
December 2022: HK$44.7 million), the increase was mainly
contributed by the operating loss during the Year. As at 31
December 2023, the Group's current assets and current
liabilities amounted to approximately HK$210.5 million and
HK$364.5 million respectively (31 December 2022: HK$267.7
million and HK$434.3 million), of which approximately HK$28.0
million (31 December 2022: HK$8.1 million) was bank and cash
balances.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEET R & 5 (8)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had bank and cash
balances of approximately HK$28.0 million (31 December 2022:
HK$8.1 million), of which approximately 95.4%, 4.6% and 0%
(31 December 2022: 95.0%, 2.5% and 2.5%) were
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB"), Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$")
and United States Dollar (“US$") respectively.

The Group’s current ratio, calculated based on current assets
over current liabilities, was 0.6 at 31 December 2023 (31
December 2022: 0.6).

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains
a level of bank and cash balances deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group relies on
funds generated from operations and fund raising activities.

With the amount of liquid assets on hand and unutilised loan
facility, the management is of the view that the Group has
sufficient financial resources to meet its ongoing operational
needs.

The Group’s investment properties contain offices and retail
shops in Mainland China and are leased to third parties under
operating leases for rental income. As at 31 December 2023,
the Group’s investment properties amounted to approximately
HK$94.1 million (2022: HK$126.4 million) and were revalued
based on valuations performed by an independent
professionally qualified valuer.

As at 31 December 2023, the investment properties of the
Group with carrying amount of approximately HK$94.1 million
(31 December 2022: HK$126.4 million) were pledged to secure
certain other borrowings. Save for the above, the Group did not
have any charges on its assets.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, investment properties of
the Group is under awaiting seizure (¥ &% $t) pursuant to civil
judgement, please refer to section “Material Events —
Litigation"” for the details of litigation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CEAERE LS L)

The Group operates mainly in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
For the operations in Mainland China, the transactions are
mostly denominated in RMB. Minimal exposure to fluctuation
in exchange rates is expected. For the operations in Hong Kong,
most of the transactions are denominated in HK$ and USS$.
Since the exchange rate of US$ against HK$ is pegged to each
other under the Linked Exchange Rate System, the exposure to
fluctuation in exchange rates will only arise from the translation
to the presentation currency of the Group. The Group did not
resort to any currency hedging facility for the Year. However,
the management will monitor the Group's foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have significant
capital commitments (31 December 2022: Nil).

As at 31 December 2023, the repayment obligations borne by
the Group under the civil judgement as disclosed in section
“Material Events — Litigation” is subject to the outcome of any
court order or actions which are yet to materialise, no
contingent liabilities was therefore recognised in this regard.

Save for the above, the Group did not have significant
contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2023 (31 December
2022: Nil).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 28
employees in Hong Kong and the PRC (31 December 2022: 27
employees). Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments)
amounted to approximately HK$6.2 million for the Year
(Previous Year: HK$5.2 million). The Group implements
remuneration policy, bonus and share options schemes to
ensure that pay scales of its employees are rewarded on
performance-related basis within the general framework of the
Group's remuneration strategy.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CEIERE RS

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to declare a final dividend for the
Year (Previous Year: nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

There were no significant investment held and material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures during the Year.

MATERIAL EVENTS

On 18 December 2020, the Company has received a letter from
the Stock Exchange notifying the Company of its decision that
the Company has failed to carry out a business with sufficient
level of operations as required under Rule 13.24 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) to warrant the continued listing of its shares
(the “Decision”). Pursuant to Rules 2B.06(1) and 2B.08(1) of
the Listing Rules, the Company submitted a written request for
the Decision to be referred to the Listing Committee of the
Stock Exchange for review on 13 January 2021 (the “Review").
On 18 May 2021, the Company received a letter from the
Listing Committee in upholding the Decision (the “LC
Decision”). On 27 May 2021, the Company submitted a written
request to the Listing Review Committee pursuant to Rule
2B.06(2) of the Listing Rules for reviewing of the LC Decision
(the "Second Review"). The Listing Review Committee may
endorse, modify or vary the LC Decision or make its own
decision.

On 14 September 2021, the Company received a decision letter
from the Listing (Review) Committee (the “Decision Letter”)
which upheld the decision of the Listing Committee and
concluded that having assessed the Company’s case under
Rule 13.24 of the Listing Rules as set out in the Decision Letter,
the Company has failed to maintain a sufficient level of
operations as required under Rule 13.24 of the Listing Rules to
warrant the continued listing of its shares.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CEAERE LS L)

On 19 October 2021, the Company received a letter (the
“Letter”) from the Stock Exchange, in which, among other
things, the Stock Exchange sets out the following resumption
guidance (the “Resumption Guidance”) for the Company:

1. demonstrate its compliance with Rule 13.24 of the Listing
Rules; and

2. announce all material information for the Company’'s
shareholders and investors to appraise the Company's
position.

The Letter also states that the Company must remedy the
issues causing its trading suspension and fully comply with the
Listing Rules to the Stock Exchange’s satisfaction before
trading in its securities is allowed to resume. For this purpose,
the Company has the primary responsibility to devise its action
plan for resumption. The Stock Exchange further indicates that
it may modify or supplement the Resumption Guidance if the
Company’s situation changes. The Company is committed to
working towards the resumption of trading in the Shares and
has been in discussions with professional advisers of the Group
to explore and consider opportunities available to the Company
in formulating a viable resumption proposal to address matters
set out in the Resumption Guidance.

On 4 May 2023, the Company announced the fulfillment of the
Resumption Guideline imposed by The Stock Exchange. The
trading in the shares of the Company was resumed from 9:00
a.m. on 5 May 2023.

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 20 December 2020, 7 January 2021, 15
January 2021, 18 May 2021, 27 May 2021, 15 September 2021,
21 October 2021, 14 March 2022, 14 June 2022, 14 September
2022, 14 December 2022, 24 March 2023 and 4 May 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CEIERE VS =)

In 2019, two wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group (the
"Yingkou Subsidiaries”) entered into certain loan agreements
(the “Original Loan Agreements”) with a bank in the PRC (the
“Bank"”), pursuant to which the Bank shall provide loans with
an aggregate principal of RMB162.0 million (the “Original
Loan”) to the Yingkou Subsidiaries which carry interest rate
ranging from 9.0045% to 9.5265% per annum and was secured
by the investment properties held by the Yingkou Subsidiaries
(the "Yingkou Properties”). The respective Original Loan and
the respective accrued interests became overdue in December
2019 and January 2020 respectively.

On 3 March 2020, the Bank assigned its entire rights over the
Original Loan to an independent third party (the “Lender A") at
an aggregate consideration of approximately RMB166.6 million
(the “Lender A Receivables”). On 18 August 2020, Lender A
assigned its entire rights over the Lender A Receivables to
another independent third party (the “Lender B") at an
aggregate consideration of approximately RMB176.8 million.

On 31 August 2020, Yingkou Subsidiaries entered into two
agreements with Lender B (the "Extended Loan
Agreements”), pursuant to which (i) the balance of the Original
Loan and accrued interest as at 18 August 2020 shall amount to
approximately RMB176.8 million, which the Lender B is entitled
to the rights of such receivable from the Yingkou Subsidiaries;
(i) the Lender B shall extend the repayment date of such
RMB176.8 million (the “Extended Loan”) by the Yingkou
Subsidiaries to 17 August 2023, and the Extended Loan shall
carry an interest rate of 5%.

As the Group did not repay the Extended Loan and respective
accrued interest pursuant to the Extended Loan Agreements,
the Extended Loan and the respective accrued interest became
overdue on 17 August 2023.

Lender A had pledged its rights to the Lender A Receivables to
the Bank and there was a dispute between the Bank and
Lender A. The Bank had filed a claim against the Lender A and
the Yingkou Subsidiaries and other defendants for the
repayment of outstanding loans and interest due to default in
certain loan agreements between the Bank and Lender A.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CEAERE LS L)

In 2022, the Group received a civil judgment and it was
adjudged that (i) Yingkou Subsidiaries are obliged to repay the
outstanding balance under the Extended Loan and respective
accrued interest to the Bank; and (ii) the Bank or the relevant
court in the PRC may have the right to dispose the Yingkou
Properties by way of auction or sale. Should the judgement
debts borne by the Group less than the aforesaid repayment
amount under Extended Loan Agreements, the remaining
amount shall be repaid to Lender B.

As at 31 December 2023, the balance of the Extended Loan
and respective accrued interest amounted to approximately
HK$218.2 million, being the obligation indebted by the Group to
the Bank under the civil judgement, which was fully reflected in
the Group's consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Yingkou Properties with carrying
amount of HK$94.1 million (2022: HK$126.4 million) is under
awaiting seizure (¥ 1% & £f) pursuant to the civil judgement.
Transfer of ownership on the Yingkou Properties is restricted.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 25 January 2024, the Company entered into the settlement
agreement with certain creditors (the “Creditors”), pursuant to
which the Company has conditionally agreed to capitalise the
aggregate indebted amount of approximately HK$44.9 million
owed to the Creditors by the Company, the Creditors has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue 896,993,536 capitalisation
shares at the issue price of HK$0.05 per capitalisation share
under a specific mandate of the Company to be sought at the
extraordinary general meeting (the “Debt Capitalisation”).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has a net current liabilities
and net liabilities of approximately HK$154.1 million and
HK$63.9 million respectively and coupled with the recent
cautious investment sentiment and the prevailing high interest
rate in the debt market, the Group had difficulties in seeking
debt or equity financing to finance its business development.
The Debt Capitalisation offers the Group with a valuable chance
of reaching a full settlement of its outstanding debt without
utilising existing financial resources of the Company and
exerting pressure on the cashflow position of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEET R & 5T ()

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 7 February, 28 February and 28 March 2024.

RESPONSE FROM THE DIRECTORS REGARDING
THE QUALIFIED OPINION

The auditor of the Company (the “Auditor”) issued a qualified
opinion on the Company's consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “"Audit
Qualifications”), the details of which were described in the
paragraph headed “Basis of Qualified Opinion” of the
independent auditor’'s report set out on pages 70 to 79 in this
annual report.

Set out below is the management’s and audit committee's
view on the Audit Qualifications.

The Qualification on Receivables were related to (i)
recoverability of the consideration receivables of
approximately HK$130.4 million and HK$134.1 million (the
"Consideration Receivables”) as at 31 December 2023
and 2022 respectively; and (ii) timing for recognition of
impairment loss on loan receivable (“Loan Receivable”)
and related interest receivables (“Interest Receivable”)
of approximately HK$176.0 million and HK$39.3 million for
the Previous Year.

(A) Recoverability of Consideration Receivables

As at 31 December 2023, the Consideration
Receivables of approximately HK$130.4 million
(2022: HK$134.1 million) represented (1)
consideration receivable of approximately HK$46.5
million (2022: HK$47.8 million) in relation to the
disposal of certain residential properties in Yingkou
(the "Residential Properties”) by the Group to four
independent third parties in 2018; and (2)
consideration receivable of approximately HK$83.9
million (2022: HK$86.3 million) in relation to the
disposal of certain commercial properties in Dalian
(the “Commercial Properties”) by the Group to two
independent third parties in 2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CEAERE LS L)

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

Reasons leading to the audit qualification

Given the Consideration Receivables remained
outstanding as at 31 December 2023 and 2022
and their recoverability is subject to the
outcome of any negotiations or litigations which
are yet to materialise, the Board understood
that the Auditor was yet to be satisfied on the
recoverability of the Consideration Receivables.

Management position and assessment

The management considered that it is possible
to recover the Consideration Receivables
through negotiations with the counterparties
who introduced the purchasers to the Group for
a debt restructuring proposal, where certain
payables of the Group may be offset against
the Consideration Receivables. Also, the
Company is exploring with the Lender B and
local government in the PRC for disposal of the
Yingkou Subsidiaries to Lender B or its group
companies. Despite there are no agreement
reached yet, the Board considered that it is
premature to evaluate whether any portion of
the Consideration Receivables is recoverable.

As such, the Group did not record any
impairment on the Consideration Receivables
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Given the Consideration Receivables remained
outstanding as at 31 December 2023 and 2022
and their recoverability is subject to the debt
restructuring proposal which are yet to
materialise, the Board understood the Auditor
was yet to be satisfied on the recoverability of
the Consideration Receivables.

View of the Audit Committee
Taking into account of the above and after

discussion with the Auditor, the Audit
Committee agreed with the Board's view.

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

BUFECREBAZERH

ERERRERZ=-Z==
FRE-_=F+=AH
=+t—HMMARKRE - BHE
AT Y [B] 1 BR R A AT 18 R
EECZHEMAFRER
WEEE T B ZEE
REMEBKREZTKRE
Mo

B E R E R AT

En E%wu = ﬁi@iﬁiﬁﬂ$
SENTAERZHF A
EREAERETER
AN & B A AE L E AR
B MAEEzE TEN
TR A B R WA B o
AN - RABEHEERAB
Ko F B E 1 BT IR AT R
AMBARHE FERA
BREKERQA - BE MK
LBZTWJH?Z i%auu o ;:}
HEKRKEZ EAED =2
AR E AREF o

A REBR T ==

FER-_FE-_—_F+=-H
—t—HIEBETMAE
WRERE -

ERERRER=ZZT ==
FrR—_FE-_=_%+=A
=f+—HMMAEE BHE
AU EEEURA MR EE
MEKELEEZ EFC
T BRAZ BRI &) RS 49 FE UL
RER AU EE -

FLZEEZER
R B Pt K B Az 8

s mik BEREZEER
BEFEZER -

RECEIRRIER AR AT / 2023 F 3k

23



24

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
CEAERE LS M6

(B)

(iv)  Proposed action plan in addressing the audit
qualification

As discussed above, the Group considered
recovering the Consideration Receivables
through negotiations with counterparties who
introduced the purchasers to the Group for a
debt restructuring proposal or entering
settlement arrangement with Lender B and
local government in the PRC. No agreement
have reached yet as at the date of this report. It
is expected that the Company will conclude the
negotiation or settlement arrangement by 2024.

The Company will continue to seek legal
opinion from its PRC lawyer from time to time
to consider (1) the recoverability of the
Consideration Receivables; and (2) the
feasibility of commencing legal actions if and
when necessary to safeguard the interest of
the Company.

In the event any debt restructuring proposal or
settlement arrangement is entered for the
Consideration Receivables, the relevant audit
qualification will not carry forward for the year
ending 31 December 2024.

Timing for recognition of impairment loss on
Loan and Interest Receivables

The Loan Receivable were related to a finance lease
agreement (the “Finance Lease Agreement”)
entered into between a subsidiary of the Company
with Shenzhen Aquatic Products Co., Ltd* ((R3IIT7k
EABR A F]) (“Shenzhen Aquatic”), an independent
third party, in 2017, pursuant to which the Group
should lease a property in Shenzhen (the “Shenzhen
Property”), which was acquired by the Group from
the same counterparty in 2017 at a consideration of
RMB150 million, to Shenzhen Aquatic for a term of
three years up to the end of December 2020. Upon
maturity of the Finance Lease Agreement, the
counterparty should return the principal of RMB150
million to the Group.

(B)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CEAERE LS L)

The Interest Receivable represented the interest of
9% per annum payable quarterly by Shenzhen
Aquatic to the Group pursuant to the Finance Lease
Agreement.

(i)

(ii)

Reasons leading to the audit qualification

Given the Shenzhen Intermediate People's
Court (“SZ Court”) handed down a civil
judgment in June 2022 against the Group and
seek for legal opinion from the PRC lawyer, the
recoverability of the Loan and Interest
Receivables was considered to be unlikely. As
such, the Group provided full Impairment on
the Loan Receivables during the Year.

Although the Auditor is satisfied that the
impairment should be provided on the entire
Loan and Interest Receivables, the Board
understood that the Auditor could not satisfy
themselves as to whether the impairment loss
should be provided on the Loan Receivables in
the Year or prior years.

Management position and assessment

Based on the legal advice received by the
Company in May 2021, the Company filed an
application to SZ Court for seizure of properties
owned by Shenzhen Aquatic in June 2021 for
recovering the Loan and Interest Receivables.
In June 2022, SZ Court ruled against the Group
based on the following principal reasons:

(@) The Group could not provide the original
copies of the relevant documents to SZ
Court, which the Group could not locate
after the Unauthorised Dilution; and

FEMR BRI ER B A
EMEARFNEIN RAAEE
BEXMNZHE -

() ZBUFEGREERZEH

BERARIIT R RARER
U“W%ﬁbﬂggii
FRAHAEERELRSE
HR K 1) R B 422 B = SROK
RER BEERKLER
A Bz AT U Bl 1 AR A A
AIRE e E Mt REER A
FELEREREBEG R
BB 7 1

BEZBEEHEREH
J& W B SRR e WK B AL R
BERE EEFSHA
AN RBEE N A FE

SBEFEREEAER
SRR EBEREE -

(i) EIEE R LA

BEARAINR_ZT_—F
EHWQM%@ﬁﬁ ZIN

RAEIR T = — E/mﬂﬁ
RINERT BB 5 & FHORIIK
ERERBOYE MW@%
WERRERFE K=
Z-F XA R®IERR
ERUATEEEBEAFEAR
C LG

(a) REBEERRIE
Prie i RS T
& 7 &£ B R Be £ B 48
X HZIER: &

RECEIRRIER AR AT / 2023 F 3k

25



26

(b) As stated in the ruling, Shenzhen Aquatic
alleged that, in March 2020, Qianhai
Guoxing entered into an agreement (the
"Purported Agreement”) with Shenzhen
Dongyin Financial Holdings Co., Ltd.* (%
TR L FIZERAR AR (“Shenzhen
Dongyin"”). Pursuant to the Purported
Agreement, it is alleged that the fund
used for financing loan transferred from
Qianhai Guoxing to Shenzhen Aquatic (the
“Fund Source”) belonged to Shenzhen
Dongyin, therefore Shenzhen Aquatic
claimed that it is not required to repay to
Qianhai Guoxing the Loan Receivables as
there are no substance regarding the Loan
Receivables.

Based on publicly available information,
the ultimate beneficial owner of Shenzhen
Dongyin is Mr. Li Sen, the then controlling
shareholder and chairman of the Company
who is now facing criminal charges in the
PRC. As the Purported Agreement is
dated March 2020, the current Board
members were not aware of the
Purported Agreement and unable to verify
its authenticity.

Accordingly, SZ Court considered the Group, as
the plaintiff, could not provide sufficient
evidence to support Shenzhen Aquatic is liable
for the repayment of the Loan Receivable and
Interest Receivable, and the Group has no right
to claim the repayment of the Loan and Interest
Receivables from Shenzhen Aquatic.

Based on the assessment by the Board after
seeking legal opinion from the PRC lawyer and
due and careful consideration, the recoverability
of the Loan and Interest Receivables was
considered to be unlikely and materialise during
the Year. As such, the Group provided full
Impairment on the Loan and Interest
Receivables during the Previous Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CEAERE LS L)

(iif)

(iv)

(i)

View of the Audit Committee

Taking into account of the above and after
discussion with the Auditor, the Audit
Committee agreed with the Board's view.

Proposed action plan in addressing the audit
qualification

Since the relevant subsidiaries have ceased to
be subsidiaries of the Company in December
2022, the audit qualification does not carried
forward in the Year.

Reasons leading to the audit qualification

Qianhai Shitong, a then wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, recorded various
prepayments made and trade receivables prior
to 2020.

In August 2020, the Company discovered the
suspected forgery or unauthorised use of the
company chop of Qianhai Shitong and Sincere
Venture (the “Suspected Forgeries”). As a
result of the Suspected Forgeries, the
purported shareholding interest of Qianhai
Shitong held by Sincere Venture was diluted
from 100% to 25% (the “Unauthorised
Dilution”) as a result of the issuance of new
shares by Qianhai Shitong to Shenzhen Aquatic.
After reporting the case to the relevant
authority, in July 2021, the Unauthorised
Dilution was withdrawn and nullified and the
Group has regained the legal ownership and
company chop of Qianhai Shitong.

As such, the Group has difficulties in accessing
the books and records of Qianhai Shitong at the
material time and therefore could not provide
the same to the Auditor as audit evidence.

(iif)

(iv)

(i)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
CEAERE LS M6

(ii)

(iii)

ENVIRO ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

The Board understood the Auditor was unable
to carry out audit procedures on Qianhai
Shitong to satisfy itself in relation to the income
and expenses, assets and liabilities and related
disclosure in relation to Qianhai Shitong in the
consolidated financial statements of the
Company.

Management position and assessment

Despite the best effort of the Group, given the
Group only regained the legal ownership of
Qianhai Shitong in July 2021, where the bank
signatory and the legal representative of
Qianhai Shitong has then been changed to the
Group's representatives, the Group had yet to
retrieve the true copies of the documents
leading to the outstanding receivables, or
ascertain the completeness of the books and
record of relevant subsidiaries.

Based on the understanding of the Group, the
relevant subsidiaries did not conduct any
operation since 2021. As such, the Group has
prepared the consolidated financial statements
of the Company based on the management
account of the relevant subsidiaries with all
information available to the Group.

However, the Auditor has requested the audit
evidence and supporting documents for the
financial statements of the relevant subsidiaries
and could not ascertain the completeness of
the books and record of the relevant
subsidiaries due to the reasons as disclosed
above.

View of the Audit Committee
Taking into account of the above and after

discussion with the Auditor, the Audit
Committee agreed with the Board's view.

(ii)

(iii)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CEAERE LS L)

(iv) Proposed action plan in addressing the audit

(i)

(i)

qualification

As Qianhai Shitong ceased to be subsidiary of
the Company since the completion of the
Disposals, the audit qualification does not
carried forward in the Year.

Reasons leading to the audit qualification

Please refer to section “Material Events —
Litigation".

Management position and assessment

The Directors considers that upon the
conclusion of the litigation between the Bank
and the Lender A or the disposal of the Yingkou
Properties in accordance to the judgement by
the relevant court in the PRC, the Group may
be released from its obligation. Therefore, no
additional provision should be provided
concerning the civil judgement.

However, the Group is unable to provide
evidence on the repayment status of Lender A
and other defendants nor their financial abilities
to fulfil the repayment obligations as at 31
December 2023 and 2022, the Company
understood that the Auditor was yet to be
satisfied themselves as to whether there are
no additional repayment obligations under the
civil judgement unless there is concrete
repayment status of Lender A and other
defendants.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEET R & 5T ()

(iii)

(iv)

ENVIRO ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

View of the Audit Committee

Taking into account of the above and after
discussion with the Auditor, the Audit
Committee agreed with the Board's view.

Proposed action plan in addressing the audit
qualification

The Group has been actively negotiating with
various independent third parties on debt
restructuring proposals and settlement
arrangement so as to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities. The Directors considers,
in the event the disposal of the Yingkou
Subsidiaries materialises, it represented
settlement of assets and liabilities under the
Yingkou Subsidiaries, which may resolve the
respective qualification on the consolidated
financial statements issued by the auditor of
the Company.

In the event any debt restructuring proposal is
entered or Yingkou Subsidiaries being disposed,
the relevant audit qualification will not carry
forward for FY2024.

(iii)

(iv)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CEAERE LS L)

RISK FACTORS

The Group has identified and is facing a number of significant
risks during the Year. Some of these risks are ongoing factors
which the industry has to cope with in medium to long term.
Other risk factors are specific to the Group.

The Group's business are closely related to the changes in
business, competitive, regulatory, or economic
environment in which the Group operates, which may
have significant impact to the Group's financial
performance and conditions.

The global economic conditions and the state of
international financial and investment markets, including
the economy, financial and investment markets of the
United States, Mainland China and Hong Kong, of which
the Group has no control, have significant influences on
the business and financial performance of the Group. The
management policy to mitigate this risk is to diversify the
Group's business and to diversify its investments (where
possible) within the same business.

The Group's existing businesses are operating in a
competitive environment that puts pressure on the
revenue and profitability of this business. The
management policy to mitigate this risk is to continue to
put effort in enlarging the market share and enhancing the
market competitiveness of these businesses by various
means.

The Group is constantly exposed to inherent risks such as
pollution, mechanical breakdown of machinery, adverse
weather conditions, fire or other calamity. Any of these
factors may cause disruptions to the Group's operations.
The Group may also be liable for compensation payable as
a result of these unpredictable events which may
adversely affect its financial performance.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEET R & 5T ()

RISK FACTORS (Continued)

The Group has been relied on a small number of
customers in its existing businesses. This has been
limiting the Group's bargaining power on credit terms and
discount rate. The Group may not be able to significantly
expand its customer base in the short term which may
adversely affect its financial performance.

The Group is exposed to financial risks relating to foreign
currency, interest rate, equity price, liquidity and credit risk
in its ordinary course of business. For further details of
such risks and relevant management policies, please refer
to Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements for
details.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management of the Group are aware,
the Group has complied in material respects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. During the Year, there
was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to
meet its immediate and long-term business goals. During the
Year, there were no significant dispute between the Group and
its employees, customers and suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. In order to
reduce the degree of environmental damage when developing
the Group's business, the Group strictly complies with the local
laws, rules and guidance in relation to environmental protection.
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Corporate Governance Report
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The Company is committed to attaining and maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance, the principles of which are to
uphold integrity, transparency and accountability in all aspects
of business and to ensure that affairs are conducted in
accordance with applicable laws and regulations. It is believed
that good corporate governance is fundamental to the success
of the Company and to the enhancement of shareholders’
value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company complied with all the applicable code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules for the year ended 31
December 2023, save for the code provisions C.2.1 of the CG
Code. Details of the deviations are explained in the section
"Compliance with the CG Code"” of this corporate governance
report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
OF DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the Group’s code
of conduct regarding Directors’ Securities Transaction. Specific
enquiries have been made with the Directors and they have
confirmed their compliance with the Model Code during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises seven
directors, including four executive Directors, namely Mr. Li
Gang (Chairman), Mr. Pan Lihui, Mr. Jiang Senlin and Mr. Cao
Zhongshu and three independent non-executive Directors (the
“INED(s)"”, and each an “INED"), namely Mr. Zhong Jian, Mr.
Pan Yongye and Mr. Liu Qin. Biographical details of the
Directors are set out in the “Directors Profile” section of this
annual report.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, save for disclosed in
this annual report, there is no other financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship(s) between the Chairman
and among members of the Board.
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The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year. The BEZ@rFHEESFHILBITHEAIEZHT

attendance of individual director at the regular Board meetings ®&EVZEERHE T -_=F+ A8

and general meetings of the Company held during the year =+—BItFEAQR BRIz EE=20 S
ended 31 December 2023 is set out in the following table: RIRRARE 2 HF0 8k -
Number of attendance
R
Annual
General
Meeting
Board (held on
Meetings 23 June 2023)
BRRBEFAE
(R=—T=-=
AA=t=8
ETgel #217)
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Li Gang (Chairman) TMIEE(EE) 4/4 7
Mr. Pan Lihui B BERAE 4/4 mn
Mr. Jiang Senlin EZHRMEE 4/4 A
Mr. Cao Zhongshu BREEE(RZEZ=F 313 N/A T~ F
(appointed on 30 June 2023) (Note) NAZTBEZE) (Ki)
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. Zhong Jian ERLE 4/4 0N
Mr. Pan Yongye EXERE(RZEZ=F 313 N/A i
(appointed on 30 June 2023) (Note) NAZTBEZE) (Ki)
Mr. Du Hongwei (resigned on 5 March 2023) M EEXE(R-_T-=F N/A 7~ F N/A T~ F
= AR HABT)
Mr. Tan Xiangyi (appointed on 5 March 2023 ENREE(RZTZ=F 171 7
and resigned on 30 June 2023) (Note) “PARREZRAIRN T -_=F
NAZTREE) (KiE)
Mr. Liu Qin ElE s 4/4 0/1
Note: Mr. Cao Zhongshu, Mr. Pan Yongye and Mr. Tan Xiangyi had obtained the  ffif: B A EF 4 B KE LA REMEILEED IR
legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D on 14 July 2023, 14 July 2023 and ZE=F+AtmA - ZE_=FtA+HE
22 March 2023 respectively, and they have confirmed they understood ARZZE-=F=-A=+-ABELMHRAE
their obligations as directors of a listed company. SO EEERRARRHALEER L
MRREEMEME -

34 ENVIRO ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EEELRE (F)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors have
participated in the approval of routine and operational matters
of the Company by way of written resolutions circulated to
them together with supporting documents and briefings from
the company secretary of the Company (the "Company
Secretary”). As for the regular Board meetings, the Directors
receive at least 14 days’ prior written notice of a regular Board
meeting and may propose matters for discussion to be included
in the agenda. The agenda together with accompanying board
papers are sent to the Directors at least three days prior to a
regular Board meeting.

The Board, led by the Chairman, approves and monitors the
Group's business strategies and policies, strategic decisions
and directions, annual budget, and other major corporate
matters. Besides, the management has powers and authorities
delegated by the Board and exercises such powers and
authorities by the Board from time to time. The management
assumes full accountability to the Board for the operation of the
Group.

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring
that Board procedures are followed. The Board is briefed on all
legislative, regulatory and corporate governance developments
and has regarded to them when making decisions. The
Company Secretary, together with the Board, are also directly
responsible for the Group's compliance with the continuing
obligations of listed issuers under the Listing Rules, the Codes
on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs, the
Companies Ordinance, the SFO and other applicable laws, rules
and regulations.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board at all
times met the requirements of Rule 3.10 and Rule 3.10A of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs
representing at least one-third of the Board, with at least one
INED possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.
Therefore, there is strong element of independence in the
Board to exercise independent judgment. The Company has
received from each INED an annual written confirmation of their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all of the INEDs have met the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and are independent in accordance with terms of the
guidelines.
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ARRANGEMENT OF APPROPRIATE INSURANCE
COVER IN RESPECT OF LEGAL ACTION AGAINST
THE DIRECTORS

The Company has put in place appropriate insurance cover in
respect of the Directors’ liability in accordance with the code
provision C.1.8 of the CG Code.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CG CODE

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. During the
Year, Mr. Li Gang is the chairman of the Board and the Company
has not appointed a chief executive officer. Accordingly, the
duties of the chief executive officer have been undertaken by
the executive Directors. The Board will keep reviewing the
current structure of the Board and the need of appointment of a
suitable candidate to perform the role of the chief executive
officer. Appointment will be made to fill the post to comply with
the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, if necessary.

TERM OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The INEDs are appointed for a term of twelve months and
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the Articles of Association.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All Directors must keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities. Any newly appointed Directors would receive
an induction package covering the Group’s businesses and the
statutory regulatory obligations of a director of a listed
company. All Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. The Directors are continually
updated on developments in statutory and regulatory regime
and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. The Company has provided timely technical
updates, including the briefing on the amendments on the
Listing Rules and the news released published by the Stock
Exchange to the Directors. Continuing briefings and
professional development for the Directors are arranged where
necessary.
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In compliance with the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code,
during the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors were
regularly briefed on the amendments to or updates on the
relevant laws, rules and regulations, and have been provided
with reading materials to keep them informed of the latest
updates in the relevant market and changes on the legal and
regulatory environment.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ng Yu Ho (“Mr. Ng") was appointed as the Company
Secretary on 12 June 2021. The primary contact person at the
Company during the year with Mr. Ng was Mr. Li Gang, the
Chairman to the Board.

During the year, Mr. Ng were responsible for providing advice
to the Board on corporate governance matters. Mr. Ng
confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 December 2023,
pursuant to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
independent auditor provided the following audit and non-audit
services to the Company with remunerations as follows:
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Auditor's Remuneration 2 S0 B 7
— Audit service — ZHARTS
— Non-audit service — FEZERTS

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees. The authority and
duties of the Audit Committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”), Remuneration Committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and the Nomination Committee
of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) are set out in
their respective written terms of reference which are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The terms of
reference of all committees are posted on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company respectively. All committees
are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules and paragraph D.3 of the CG Code. As at the date of this
annual report, the Audit Committee comprises three INEDs,
namely, Mr. Liu Qin, Mr. Pan Yongye (appointed on 30 June
2023) and Mr. Zhong Jian, with Mr. Liu Qin acting as the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, inter alia, to
review and supervise the financial reporting process and the
effectiveness of the Group's internal controls and risk
management. The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year
in reviewing the interim and annual reports of the Company
before submission to the Board for approval.

The Audit Committee meets regularly with management and
external auditors and reviews their reports. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee met two times
to (i) review the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and the unaudited condensed
consolidated financial information for the six months ended 30
June 2023 with recommendations to the Board for approval; (ii)
review the Groups' internal control system and related matters
and discussed with the management and the auditors on the
accounting policies and practices that may affect the Group; (iii)
consider and make recommendations of the re-appointment of
the independent audit of the Company; and (iv) other matters in

BEREES

AAREBRETHAUEI2NEEEEER
TFRIZEDIBNLEZZES WiIHE
EREHE - RAFTREY BEZXLET
H-ZBIFENTES (ANBIREE - FXK
oA (RZZE-_=FA=1tHEZT)
MERIGE) AR MBIREEHRTERR
BEEFE -

ERZBGZIERER (AT BHE) EH
KESERRER B 2 5 R AR Fr A S R B BR
Z2REBEEZKY BREEEEF &
PRIIMAEH UREXTEFTSHE
REHARAPHLFEERS -

ERLZEerTHEEHEE NIINEZEMME
ENEHERS HE T _=F+_48
Z+—HALFE BREZEEYRITMAX
e NHIBEHMEBEE T -__+=-A
T+ —BUEFEZHFEEMBHREAREE
TEC=FXNA=ZTHLEANARAZARE
ZERGEEMBER  WIREERUHRE
EgHE (1 BRASERNBEZRAR
HEEE  WEEIRE K% A5 A8
FEAEESHBREER (i) ERE
EARNABIYZEMT I EL B RS
R IBERESEMNEMER - SKEH

accordance with its terms of reference. The record of FEZE&@Z 7 CHEHN T -
attendance of each member at the committee meetings is set
out below.
Number of
attendance
Members RE R
Mr. Liu Qin Rx:kHE 2/2
Mr. Pan Yongye EKERE(RZTEZ=F 1/
(appointed on 30 June 2023) NAZTHEZRMT)
Mr. Zhong Jian ERlEA 2/2
Mr. Du Hongwei (resigned on 5 March 2023) MEEEE (R -_=F=AAH&T) N/A 7 i A3

Mr. Tan Xiangyi (appointed on 5 March 2023
and resigned on 30 June 2023)

EMmAE(RZT=F
“ARBEZEIX
MR-ZE-_=FXA=1+HET)
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules and paragraph E.1 of the CG Code. As at the date
of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee comprises
two INEDs and one executive Director, namely, Mr. Zhong Jian,
Mr. Pan Yongye (appointed on 30 June 2023) and Mr. Pan Lihui,
with Mr. Zhong Jian acting as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee should consult with the chairman
on its remuneration proposals for other executive Directors, and
may access to independent professional advice if necessary.
The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
include, among others, (i) the recommendation to the Board on
the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management remuneration and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy; (ii) the review and approval of management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board's corporate
goals and objectives, and the determination, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual
executive Director and senior management; and (iii) the review
and/or approval of matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the operation model
where it performs an advisory role to the Board, with the Board
retaining the final authority to approve the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management. Details of the remuneration of Directors are set
out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, since there were no
shares granted under the 2011 Share Option Scheme (as
defined in the Report of the Directors), no material matters
relating to the 2011 Share Option Scheme under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules were required to be reviewed or approved by
the Remuneration Committee.
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The Remuneration Committee met once during the year ended
31 December 2023 to review and approve the remuneration
packages of all Directors and senior management and other
matters in accordance with the Remuneration Committee’s
terms of reference. During the process, no individual director
was involved in decisions relating to his own remuneration. The
record of attendance of each member at the committee
meeting is set out below.

FMEEEeRNBE_ZT_=F1+=A
=T HLEFERTT -REZUREH
MEZECREXERMIMLELBEER
SREBEBZHFNFTEREMEIER - FEIiL
HRTEENEFSEETEANS 2HH -
EREHRFZE @SR ZEHN T -

Number of

attendance
Members & HERE
Mr. Zhong Jian ER s 11
Mr. Du Hongwei (resigned on 5 March 2023) MEEEE (R -_=F=AAH&T) N/A 7~ i A
Mr. Pan Lihui EN B 1/1
Mr. Tan Xiangyi (appointed on 5 March 2023 EMEAEE(RZTEZ=F 11

and resigned on 30 June 2023) “AREHEZIX
RZEZ=FNA=1+HBET)

Mr. Pan Yongye (appointed on 30 June 2023) &k EXRA (RN -_=4F N/A 38 A

NA=ZTREZE)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B.3 of
the CG Code. As at the date of this annual report, the
Nomination Committee comprises two INEDs and one
executive Director, namely Mr. Pan Yongye (appointed on 30
June 2023), Mr. Zhong Jian and Mr. Cao Zhongshu (appointed
on 30 June 2023) with Mr. Pan Yongye acting as the chairman
of the Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are, among
others, to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company's corporate strategy;
to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; to
assess the independence of INEDs; and to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of the Directors and succession planning for the
Directors, in particular the chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer of the Company.
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The Nomination Committee has reviewed the diversity of the
Board during the year ended 31 December 2023 and will review
the Board Diversity Policy (as defined below) from time to time
to ensure that the policy will be implemented effectively.

The Nomination Committee met once during the year ended 31
December 2023 to (i) review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and its diversity, (ii) assess the
independence of INEDs, (iii) make recommendation to the
Board on the re-election of the Directors at the annual general
meeting (iv) and to consider other matters in accordance with
its terms of reference. The record of attendance of each
member at the committee meeting is set out below.

RAZBECLEMEBE_T_=F1+-A
=t-HLEFEZEFREZ T AT
HEMNEEFSZTICEER (EER TN
HRAEBRRBEERENR -

REZEBEENRBE-_T-_=+=-A
—+—HLEFEETT —REENNER
BB AEREKRAREZ T
(i) FHE B IENITEE 2B LME - (i) AR
REFASHRERESTNESSELERS
BEhivVVEERERESENEMER -
BEREEFEZECER 2 RHHN T -

Number of
attendance
Members RE R E
Mr. Pan Yongye (appointed on 30 June 2023)  EXKELE4A (R _TE-=4F N/A 71 i B
NAZTHEZRT)
Mr. Du Hongwei (resigned on 5 March 2023) HEEEGE (R _TE-_=F=FAHBT) N/A 7~ 58 A
Mr. Zhong Jian $ER ST 11
Mr. Pan Lihui (resigned as a member of EUBEE (RZTEZ=F 11
Nomination Committee on 30 June 2023) NAZTHBIRZEZESKE)
Mr. Tan Xiangyi (appointed on 5 March 2023 EBMmAE(RZE_=F 1/
and resigned on 30 June 2023) —ARHEEZER
RZZEZ=FA=+THEMT)
Mr. Cao Zhongshu (appointed on 30 June 2023) EHEFAEA (R T - =4 N/A 7~ i A3

NA=Z+REZE)
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has resolved on 28 December 2018 to adopt the
following Nomination Policy:

1. The Nominee Committee will:

1.1

1.2

1.3

review and monitor the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity of perspectives) of the
Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships;

assess the INEDs and where the Board proposes a
resolution to elect an individual as an INED at the
general meeting, it should set out in the circular to
shareholders (“Shareholders”, and each a
“Shareholder”) and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting:

1.3.1 the process used for identifying the individual
and why the Board believes the individual
should be elected and the reasons why it
considers the individual to be independent;

if the proposed INED will be holding their
seventh (or more) listed company directorship,
why the Board believes the individual would
still be able to devote sufficient time to the
Board,;

the perspectives, skills and experience that the
individual can bring to the Board; and

1.3.4 how the individual contributes to diversity of

the Board.

REBBE
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1.4

1.5

1.6

2.1

a3 E (8)

review the diversity of Board members periodically
which can be achieved through consideration of a
number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, or
professional experience;

make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors and
succession planning for directors, in particular the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer; and

assist the Board in the development and review of
the Board's diversity policy and directors’ nomination
policy, as appropriate; and review the measurable
objectives for the implementation of the Board's
diversity policy and monitor progress towards the
achievement of such.

The Company’s process for appointing a Director

Approach and procedures for the Board to appoint a
Director

211 Nomination Committee considers the
candidates based on merit having regard
to the skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity of perspectives and then makes
recommendations to the Board as appropriate;

2.1.2 Executive Directors’ appointment will be made
through a service contract with a term of
service continues unless and until terminated
by either party by giving to the other three
months’ period notice in writing;

2.1.3 Non-executive Directors’ (“NEDs"”, and each a
“NED") appointment will be made through a
formal letter of appointment with a term of
twelve-month period which automatically
renews for successive twelve months periods
unless terminated by either party in writing
prior to the expiry of the term;
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216
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a3 & (8)

Retiring NEDs, including those who have
served as NEDs for a period of 9 consecutive
years, are eligible for nomination by the Board
to stand for re-election at a general meeting.
For the avoidance of doubt, (a) the 9-year period
for determining the eligibility of an NED for
nomination by the Board to stand for election at
a general meeting would count from his/her
date of first appointment as an NED until the
date of the forthcoming annual general meeting
when his/her current term of service will expire
at the end of that meeting; and (b) an NED who
has been serving on the Board for a period of 9
consecutive years or more may continue to
hold office until expiry of his/her current term;

If an INED has served more than 9 years, such
Director’'s further appointment should be
subject to a separate resolution to be approved
by Shareholders. The papers to the
Shareholders accompanying that resolution
should state the reasons why the Board (or the
Nomination Committee) believes the Director is
still independent and should be re- elected
including the factors considered, the process
and the discussion of the Nomination
Committee or the Board in arriving at such
determination;

Where all the independent non-executive
Directors have served more than nine years on
the Board, the Company should:

(a) disclose the length of tenure of each
existing independent non-executive
Director on a named basis in the circular
to the Shareholders and/or explanatory
statement accompanying the notice of the
annual general meeting; and

(b) appoint a new independent non-executive
Director on the board at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.
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218
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Newly appointed Directors approved by the
Board are subject to election by Shareholders
at the first general meeting following the
appointment (in case of filling a casual vacancy)
or until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company (in case of an
additional to the Board), but he shall not be
taken into account in determining the Directors
or the number of Directors who are to retire by
rotation in case he retires at an annual general
meeting; and

Existing Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation at the annual general meeting at least
once every three years but are eligible for re-
election. This applies to one-third of existing
Directors according to the Articles of
Association. The Directors to retire by rotation
shall include any Director who wishes to retire
and not to offer himself for re-election.

2.2 Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director

221

222

223

If a Shareholder of the Company wishes to
propose a person other than a retiring director
for election as a director of the Company at a
general meeting, the Shareholder (other than
the person to be proposed) duly qualified to
attend and vote at the general meeting shall
send a written notice, duly signed by the
Shareholder, of his/her intention to propose
such person for election and also a notice
signed by the person to be proposed of his/her
willingness to be elected;

These notices should be lodged at the
Company's head office in Hong Kong or the
Company’'s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, during a period
commencing no earlier than the day after the
dispatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election and ending no later
than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting provided that such period shall
be at least seven days; and

Shareholders may put forward their enquiries
about the Company to the Board through the
Company Secretary at 20/F., No. 9 Des Voeux
Road West, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.
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2.3 Approach and procedures for Shareholders’ approval
to appoint a Director at the general meeting

2.3.1 Proposed Director appointment is considered
as an individual resolution at the general
meeting;

2.3.2 Shareholders will approve the election or re-

election of Directors by Ordinary Resolution at

the Company’s general meeting; and

2.3.3 Any Director so appointed shall hold office only

until the next following general meeting of the

Company (in the case of filling a causal vacancy)

or until the next following annual general

meeting of the Company (in the case of an
addition to the Board), and shall then be eligible
for re-election at the meeting, but he shall not
be taken into account in determining the

Directors or the number of Directors who are to

retire by rotation in case he retires at an annual

general meeting.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a
sustainable and balanced development of the Company and to
enhance the quality of performance of the Company. The Board
Diversity Policy aims at achieving diversity on the Board.

In designing the Board's composition, a number of perspectives
which include race, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, industry experience, technical and professional
experience, knowledge, skills, length of service, personal
integrity and time commitments of the proposed candidates
will be taken into consideration. The Company will also take
into account factors relating to its own business model and
specific needs from time to time. The ultimate decision is
based on merit and contribution that the candidates will bring to
the Board. Candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
board.
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The Board will take opportunity to increase the proportion of
female members over time when selecting and making
recommendation on suitable candidates for Board
appointments. The Board would ensure that appropriate balance
of gender diversity is achieved with reference to stakeholders’
expectation and international and local recommended best
practices, with the ultimate goal of bringing the Board to gender
parity. The Board also aspires to having an appropriate
proportion of Directors who have direct experience in the
Group’s core markets, with different ethnic backgrounds, and
reflecting the Group's strategy.

The Board recognises the importance of the Board gender
diversity for enhancing the corporate governance system and
strategic decisions in the boardroom. As at the date of this
report, all Board members are males. In order to achieve gender
diversity on the Board level, the Board will appoint at least one
female Board member no later than 31 December 2024.

Details of gender ratio of the workforce (including senior
management) are set out in the 2023 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of
the Board Diversity Policy and report to the Board annually.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Company’s corporate governance duties set out in code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code are carried out by the Board
pursuant to the following terms of reference adopted by the
Board:

(@) to develop and review the Company’'s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Company’s
employees and Directors; and
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(e) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group and ensures
that the consolidated financial statements have adopted the
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
complied with the requirements of the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance and the
Listing Rules.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report section of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems are in place for the Group.

The Group's system of risk management and internal control
includes a defined management structure with limits of
authority, and is designed to safeguard the Group's assets
against unauthorised use or misappropriation, ensure the
maintenance of proper accounts, and ensure compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. The systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss, and to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve the Group’s business objectives.

The Group has a risk management process in place to identify,
evaluate and manage significant risks and to resolve material
internal control defects, if any. Risks are compiled, rated and
mitigation plans are proposed and documented in a risk
template by the responsible officer of the Company and its
subsidiaries. The risk assessment is reviewed and evaluated by
the management of the Company. The identified risks are
managed by the Group through (i) implementing controls that
eliminate the risk entirely, (ii) implementing mitigation plans to
reduce the severity of the risk to an acceptable level, or {iii)
taking no action if the risk is acceptable for the Group (as the
case may be). The risk assessments are presented to the Audit
Committee and the Board for their review semi-annually.
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The Group has maintained internal control policies to provide
sufficient guidelines for the management staff and employees
of the Company to work efficiently under a standardised work
procedure. The internal control policies cover various operating
processes from risk assessment, financial reporting, cost
management, pricing for projects, staff recruitment and training
to IT system control. The internal control system is generally
overseen by the executive Directors and senior management
and is reviewed at least once a year.

Given the current operations of the Group, no internal audit
department has been set up within the Group. Pursuant to code
provision D.2.1 of the CG Code, the Company evaluates and
reviews its risk management and internal control system on an
annual basis. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group engaged an independent external consulting firm as the
Group's internal control consultant to review the effectiveness
of the Group's selected internal control measures. The review
of the Group’s internal controls covering major financial,
operational and compliance controls, as well as risk
management functions of different systems have been done on
a systematic rotational basis based on the risk assessments of
the operations and controls. No major issue but areas for
improvement have been identified. The Board and the Audit
Committee considered that the key areas of the Group’s
internal control systems and risk management are reasonably
implemented and to be effective and adequate.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication
with Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group which
includes interim and annual reports, announcements and
circulars, is disseminated to Shareholders in a timely manner
through the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company,
respectively.

The Company also acknowledges that general meetings are
valuable forums for the Board to communicate directly with the
Shareholders and members of the Board and committees are
encouraged to attend and answer questions at the general
meetings.
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Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association,
extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the
requisition of one or more shareholders holding, at the date of
deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board
or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Directors for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit
the Directors fail to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Directors shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting following the
procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

If a shareholder of the Company wishes to propose a person
other than a retiring director for election as a director of the
Company at a general meeting, the shareholder (other than the
person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the
general meeting shall send a written notice, duly signed by the
shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such person for
election and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed
of his/her willingness to be elected. These notices should be
lodged at the Company’s head office in Hong Kong or the
Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis
Limited, during a period commencing no earlier than the day
after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election and ending no later than seven days
prior to the date of such general meeting provided that such
period shall be at least seven days.

Shareholders may put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board through the Company Secretary at 20/F,
No. 9 Des Voeux Road West, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.
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Information of the Company are communicated to the
Shareholders mainly through the Company's financial reports
(interim and annual reports), announcements, circulars and
other corporate publications made available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange, and the direct
communication platform at the annual general meeting held
every year and any other general meetings that may be
convened as required. Shareholders may at any time send their
enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing through the
Company Secretary. The Shareholders’ Communication Policy
adopted by the Company is publicly available on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company and will be monitored
and reviewed on a regular basis, and, if necessary, changes will
be made to ensure that Shareholders’ needs are best served.
During the year under review, the Board has reviewed the
policy and confirmed its effectiveness.

The Shareholders’ Communication Policy adopted by the
Company is publicly available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The Board has adopted a dividend policy to declare and
distribute dividends to the Shareholders (the “Dividend
Policy”). The Company considers stable and sustainable
returns to the Shareholders to be our goal and endeavours to
maintain a progressive dividend policy. In deciding whether to
propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the
Board takes into account, inter alia, the Group’s earnings
performance, financial position, investment requirements and
future prospects, and other factors that the Board deems
relevant. The recommendation of the payment of any dividend
is subject to the absolute discretion of the Board, and any
declaration of final dividend will be subject to the approval of
the Shareholders. The Board will review the Dividend Policy on
a regular basis and may exercise at its sole and absolute
discretion to update, amend and modify the Dividend Policy at
any time as it deems fit and necessary.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On 23 June 2023, the Shareholders have passed the special
resolution approving the proposed adoption of the amended
and restated Articles of Association of the Company, in order to
bring them in line with the Core Shareholder Protection
Standards set out in Appendix A1 (formerly known as Appendix
3) to the Listing Rules which came into effect on 1 January
2022 and the applicable laws of Cayman Islands, and other
house-keeping amendments that are consistent with such
amendments. The amended and restated Articles of
Association of the Company is available on the Stock
Exchange’s website and the Company's website.
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Directors Profile

EFEEN

The biographical details of Directors up to the date of this
annual report, are set out below:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Li Gang ( “Mr. Li”), Chairman

Mr. Li, aged 61, has joined the Company as an executive
Director and the Chairman of the Board since 29 June 2020.

Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’'s degree in engineering from the
University of Nanking (A& KXZ) in 1984. Mr. Li has
accumulated many years of working and corporate
management experience in the fields of trading and financial
technology. He founded Shenzhen Youbo Network Technology
Co., Ltd. (RYIBIEME LB R A F]) and served as the general
manager. He has also worked as the product director in
Shanghai Mingchuang Software Technology Co., Ltd. (/&4
B RIT AR A A)), as the trust manager in Chongging
International Trust Co., Ltd. (EEEIEREFEAR A F]) and the
trust manager in Zhongrong International Trust Co., Ltd. (& {z
FEABRAA]). Mr. Liis currently the vice chairman of the board
of directors of Wonderland International Financial Holdings
Limited (E/ZBR S RIIZEARBRAR]). Mr. Liis also a director of
various subsidiaries of the Company.
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Directors Profile (Continued)

EFEHNT ()

Mr. Pan Lihui ( “Mr. Pan”)

Mr. Pan, aged 56, has joined the Company as an executive
Director since 29 June 2020. He has also been appointed as a
member of the Remuneration Committee since 9 July 2021.

Mr. Pan obtained a bachelor degree in International Economics
from Beijing University of International Relations (1t 5 B BF %
%) in the PRC in 1989. He has over 28 years of experience in
trading and corporate management of nonferrous metals
industry. Mr. Pan worked in Mind Honour Limited (8Z &R 2
Al) from 1994 to 1998 as a manager. Mr. Pan founded Pentart
Industrial Limited (B§#FE BB A F]) in 1998 and Able Plus
International Limited (52 SABIRR (1%/%) AR AE)) in 2001 and has
since been a director and general manager of these two
companies. Mr. Pan currently serves as an independent non-
executive director of Beijing Sports and Entertainment Industry
Group Limited (stock code: 1803), the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Pan is also a
director of various subsidiaries of the Company.

BUBEE(EEED

BEE B6R BT _TFERA-TN
BEMARABDHERTES - RIFBE
T —FLtANREEREIRFHNEES

BEER—NNANFRGH B B
REGENEREESSELEM  BREER
TBITXERBE28FEIREXEELR -
BRER-NNAOFE-NNNFREZE
BRAFERZE R~ NN\FKILE
FEXBERAFAER-_ZEZT—FRIEAR
BIFR () AR AR Bt —BEREZMW
MARZERZRAEKLE - BELE BRI
RREXEXSBEEARAR (BRHAN :
1803 HR M MEE R P ER ETH) 2B
FATEF - AEETRARBZEHE
NCIPA- =

RECEIRRIER AR AT / 2023 F 3k

53



54

Directors Profile (Continued)

EFEN (8)

Mr. Jiang Senlin ( “Mr. Jiang”)

Mr. Jiang, aged 52, has been appointed as an executive
Director since 28 June 2019.

Mr. Jiang has been the vice-president and chief financial officer
in Wonderland International Financial Holdings Limited (12
R R B R A R)) since January 2018. Mr. Jiang has been
an independent non-executive director of China Ruifeng
Renewable Energy Holdings Limited, which is listed on Main
Board (Stock Code: 527) since 31 January 2019 and Wan Kei
Group Holdings Limited, which is listed on Main Board (Stock
Code: 1718) since 07 September 2023. Mr. Jiang worked in
BeijingRenge Technology Corp. Ltd (At R T EHEA D AR A
7]) (NEEQ Code: 837824, voluntarily delisted in December
2018) as vice general manager and chief financial officer from
September 2015 to December 2017 and was a non-executive
director of Ruihe Data Technology Holdings Limited (formerly
known as “Suoxinda Holdings Limited"”), which is listed on
Main Board (Stock Code: 3680) for the period from March 2022
to June 2022. He also worked as chief financial officer (Asia) in
Morningstar, Inc. (NASDAQ: MORN) from August 2009 to
September 2015.

Mr. Jiang was qualified as an accountant in the People’s Public
of China in May 1998 and as an intermediate financial officer
conferred by the Ministry of Personnel People's Republic of
China in November 1997. Mr. Jiang completed his research
program in Art and Culture (3X#2) at Sichuan University in July
2000 and obtained his bachelor degree in Accountancy at the
Central Institute of Finance (1 R B I & @ £ Ft) (now known
as the Central University of Finance and Economics) in June
1993.
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Mr. Cao Zhongshu (“Mr. Cao”)

Mr. Cao, aged 32, has been appointed as the executive Director
and a member of the Nomination Committee since 30 June
2023.

Mr. Cao obtained a master degree in Diplome ESC from ESCP
Business School in France and a bachelor degree in science
from Peking University. He also has the practicing license in
securities issued by the Securities Association of China and the
Securities Practice Qualification Certificate granted by Asset
Management Association of China. Mr. Cao has many years of
experience in investment, financing and corporate
management. He has served in Ether Capital, a financial
consulting company, and HC Capital, a private equity firm. Mr.
Cao is currently a legal representative of Hangzhou Jun Heng
Building Materials Limited* (#1 )1 l& & &+ AR 2 7)) (“Jun
Heng Building Materials”), an indirect non wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, responsible for its daily operations,
and an investment director of Zhejiang Zhongnan Construction
Group Company Limited* G IHF EESZEBBRAA),
which has an indirect interest in Jun Heng Building Materials.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Zhong Jian ( “Mr. Zhong ‘)

Mr. Zhong Jian, aged 54, has been appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company since 22 October 2019.

Mr. Zhong has obtained a bachelor’s degree in Finance from
The Central University of Finance and Economics, a master's
degree in International Finance from Renmin University of China
and a master’'s degree in Executive Master of Business
Administration from Chinese Europe International Business
School.

Mr. Zhong is currently the fund manager of Shanghai Mingyu
Asset Management Co., Ltd. He was the vice president and
chief financial officer of Kasen International Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 496) from August 2007 to June 2014 and
September 2007 to June 2014, respectively.

Mr. Pan Yongye ( “Mr. PAN")

Mr. PAN, aged 29, has been appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director, chairman of the nomination committee, a
member of the audit committee and a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company since 30 June 2023.

Mr. PAN obtained a British Honours bachelor degree. He
passed the Securities Practitioner Qualification Examinations of
the Securities Association of China and completed the AFP
financial planner training. Mr. PAN has many years of
experience in investment, financing and undertaking in the
Hong Kong capital market. He is good at business management,
corporate financing and capital cooperation and so on. He has
worked for the credit department of Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China, MILA SPC- Stawell Gold Mine Fund SP as an
assistant of the fund manager, and the product department of
Genuine Oriental Wealth Management Limited as a senior
manager. Mr. PAN is currently the managing director of Foshin
Pan-Asia Capital Limited, responsible for undertaking
investment and merger and acquisition projects.
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Directors Profile (Continued)

EFEHNT ()

Mr. Liu Qin ( “Mr. Liu”)

Mr. Liu Qin, aged 54, has been appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director and the chairman of the Audit
Committee since 9 July 2021.

Mr. Liu graduated from Central University of Finance and
Economics with a bachelor’s degree in Western Accounting
and Economics in 1993. He has over 29 years of experience in
corporate finance, taxation and internal control management in
large-scale group companies. Mr. Liu is currently serving as the
PRC tax director in Ericsson (stock code: ERIC, a company
whose shares are listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market). He has
served as the PRC tax director in Otis (stock code: OTIS, a
company whose shares are listed on the NASDAQ Stock
Market). He was a tax manager at KPMG, being responsible for
providing auditing, tax planning, financial management and
other compliance advice to companies in different industries.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF
THE LISTING RULES

Upon enquiry by the Company, save as disclosed below, there
is no change in the information of the Directors required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since
the Company’s last published interim report:

Mr. Jiang has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Wan Kei Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1718)
since 7 September 2023.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

The Directors hereby present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
the activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 20
to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of Group's activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including a fair
review of the Group’s business, a discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group, an indication of likely
future developments in the Group’s business, an analysis of the
Group's performance using financial key performance indicators
and the Company’s environmental policies and performance,
can be found in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” sections of this annual report. These
sections form part of this report of the Directors.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to declare a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donations during the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 80
to 81.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movement in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

EFEHRE(H)

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option schemes as set out in “Share Option
Schemes” section in this report, no equity-linked agreements
were entered into by the Group, or existed during the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movement in reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 84 and Note 35(b) to
the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had no reserves
available for distribution.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, sales to the Group's
five largest customers accounted for approximately 57% of the
Group’s total revenue and sales to the largest customer
included therein accounted for approximately 15%.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, purchases from the
Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 48%
of the Group’s total purchases and purchases from the largest
supplier included therein accounted for approximately 26%.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest
customers or suppliers.

SUBSIDIARIES

Participants of the Company's subsidiaries are set out in Note
20 to the Consolidate Financial Statements.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

EFEHRE(H)

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Gang

Mr. Pan Lihui

Mr. Jiang Senlin

Mr. Cao Zhongshu (appointed on 30 June 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhong Jian
Mr. Pan Yongye (appointed on 30 June 2023)

Mr. Du Hongwei (resigned on 5 March 2023)

Mr. Liu Qin

Mr. Tan Xiangyi (appointed on 5 March 2023 and
resigned on 30 June 2023)

In accordance with Article 108(A) of the Articles of Association,
Mr. Pan Lihui, Mr. Zhong Jian and Mr. Liu Qin will retire from
their office the executive Director and the independent non-
executive Directors by rotation respectively at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (the “AGM") and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

In accordance with Article 112 of the Articles of Association,
Mr. Cao Zhongshu and Mr. Pan Yongye will retire from office as
an executive Director and an independent non-executive
Director respectively at the AGM and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

Each of Mr. Pan Lihui, Mr. Zhong Jian, Mr. Liu Qin, Mr. Cao
Zhongshu and Mr. Pan Yongye have indicated their willingness
to offer themselves for re-election at the AGM. Details in
relation to the re-election are stated in the circular to be sent to
the Shareholders together with this Annual Report.

The Company received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considered all of the independent non-executive
Directors as independent.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
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DIRECTORS PROFILE

Biographical details of Directors of the Company are set out on
pages 52 to 57 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the AGM
has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in Note 36 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Other than as disclosed in Note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company, its subsidiaries or its parent companies was a party
and in which a director of the Company and the Director’s core
connected persons had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract (other than employment contract) concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Company was entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

EFEHRE(H)

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The purpose of the 2011 Share Option Scheme (hereinafter
defined) is to enable the Group to recognise the contribution of
the participants to the Group and to motivate the participants to
continuously work to the benefit of the Group by offering the
participants an opportunity to have personal interest in the
share capital of the Company.

The Company adopted the 2011 Share Option Scheme which
was approved by shareholders in the Company’s annual general
meeting held on 12 May 2011. There were no movement of the
options granted under the 2011 Share Option Scheme during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

Notes:

(1) 50% of the share options are exercisable in a period commencing one (1)
year from the date of grant and expiring on the day falling one day
preceding the tenth anniversary from the date of grant. The balance of
50% of the share options are exercisable in a period commencing two (2)
years from the date of grant and expiring on the day falling one day
preceding the tenth anniversary from the date of grant.

(2) The 2011 Share Option Scheme has already ceased to have any effect
during the year ended 31 December 2022 upon the final batch of
outstanding share options lapsed at the end of the day on 30 December
2022. As at 31 December 2023 and the date of this annual report, there
were no outstanding share options under the 2011 Share Option Scheme.

(3) Saved as disclosed above, no share options had been granted, exercised,
lapsed or cancelled under the 2011 Share Option Scheme during the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
ESEHRE ()

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'SINTERESTS EERESTHRAERRKS - HER
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING #“RESZ2EEZRER
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of M -_ZE-=F+_-"A=+—H KR R=E
the Directors and chief executive of the Company, if any, inthe ERZSITHAES (I0F)RARRQAFSHT
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or (A 1BEHEE (F & B EH RS EHEXV
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part  #F) 2 R%{D - BRI M) k&S T - HEEEE
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept &% K& HA & 5§ B 352 1§58 AR R Al B
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise  1FR)E sk iR 1% 8 BT 8% C3Fr & =
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to 1257 BI| 41 & AN A &) M B &5 By 2 #E 25 N 52
the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, &1 :

were as follows:

Long positions of Directors in the shares and underlying EZERAQATARGREBROAZERE
shares of the Company

Approximate

Capacity and Number of % of
Name of director nature of interest shares held shareholding
BAER
Esns SO REENEE FrisiR 6 8 B BAk
(Note 3)
(Ktzt3)
Mr. Li Gang ("Mr. Li") Interest of controlled 112,789,766 20.79%
corporation (note 1)
(Btat1)
FMIEAE(TEEE]D XEHI ATz
Mr. Pan Lihui (“Mr. Pan”) Beneficial owner 33,112,281 6.11%
(note 2)
(BtiE2)
BB AL ERfAA
(EEED
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EFETRE(R)

notes:

1. Wonderland International Investment Holdings Limited (“Wonderland”) is
owned by Hua Zhi Investment Limited as to 58.44%, which is owned by
Mr. Li as to 563.37%. Mr. Li was deemed to be interested in the
112,789,766 shares of the Company held by Wonderland by reason of
interests of controlled corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO. Mr. Li is a substantial shareholder of the Company and his
shareholding in the Company is also set out in the section headed
"Interests and Short Positions of Substantial Shareholders Disclosable
under the SFO".

2. Mr. Pan is a substantial shareholder of the Company and his shareholding
in the Company is also set out in the section headed "Interests and Short
Positions of Substantial Shareholders Disclosable under the SFO".

3. As at 31 December 2023, the number of issued shares of the Company
was 542,392,207.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had registered an
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company, or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that
was required to be recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and
none of the Directors or their respective spouses or minor
children had any rights to subscribe for the securities of the
Company, or had exercised any such rights during the year.

Hist

1. FEEEBRREERAR AR ([EFEE]) BHua Zhi
Investment Limited # & 58.44% #£ z * 1 Hua
Zhi Investment Limited F 25 55 £ 5 53.37% 4
HoHRZIEF AR zES (TERBFHFRHE
BHIEXVE) TRERBAENEEMBEEZ
A 7F]112,789,766 BRAR 1) R B S - AL
BARAZEBRE  ERAQRZKRESER
[REEASLHEKRIETERRATRENES
MR-

2. FBEARARRZEIBERR ERAREZRK

BERBREBS LB G EERRATRE
BN | 8 o

3. R-_ZE-_=F+_A=+—H  KQFIB %7
A% {5 88 B A 542,392,207 f% °

BEXHEEEN RZE-_=ZF+=A
=t+—HB BMEARFTNEERESTERA
BRAQR S EEMAEEZE (E& RESH
MEEGEHIEXVES) 21D - HHERG &
BEF  BRALERARAREZESR
HEKRPIE2EABTHELM 2 #ER
AR HIBRBEETRZREMANS
RARRBRTZ s AR o

EEREROSES ZEF

RERNERMER  ARFHEEAHER
A EAT I ML BUEERAIERE
KRB AR E A )E A B 88 2 B B 5
MBS TEEFIREZEB/IR
KREFREERBARFRZS  HIRNFR
TTEEIZFER -
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEERE(E)

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2023, the following interests of more than
5% of the total number of issued shares of the Company were
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

BERBSRPERAETERRETH
BENESENRER

R-ZE-_=F+_-"A=+—H8 AQ7
BEAHAMHEEIERCKETEFEZ
ERELMEA AT EARREEITRD
HEBY% A F g

Number of Approximate %

Name of shareholder Capacity and nature of interest shares held of shareholding
BRRER BB St RERMEE FiERGEHE BAERESL
(Note 3)
(Ktat3)
Mr. Li Interest of controlled corporation 112,789,766 20.79%
oA SEFIAE 2 B (note 1)
(KiaE1)
\Wonderland Beneficial owner 112,789,766 20.79%
s EmEAA (note 1)
(Krat1)
Mr. Pan Beneficial owner 33,112,281 6.11%
ERE EmEAA (note 2)
(Krat2)
Executive Success Limited Beneficial owner 28,142,920 5.19%
Executive Success Limited EmEA A
Notes: Mfet -

1. Wonderland is owned by Hua Zhi Investment Limited as to 58.44%,
which is owned by Mr. Li as to 53.37%. Mr. Li was deemed to be
interested in the 112,789,766 shares of the Company held by Wonderland
by reason of interests of controlled corporations within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO.

2. Mr. Pan is an executive Director whose interest in Shares is also set out
in above section headed "‘Disclosure of Interests of Directors and Chief
Executive”.

3. As at 31 December 2023, the number of issued shares of the Company

was 542,392,207.

1. #E & Hua Zhi Investment Limited 5 58.44%
# %5 M Hua Zhi Investment Limited B2 %E 4
WAHB337% - MR ZIEFI AR 2= (F
FERBHENBEGHEXVE)  FTEEHBA
REEATEA 2 AR F)112,789,766 B A% 15
B -

2. BEEERWUTEZ HAHXBROMERTHENL
NIEERERITRAE 2 EE | & -

3. RIE-=F+-A=+—H KARABSZHT
et 88 B /542,392,207 % °
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the
Company had not been notified of any other relevant interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as required to be recorded in the register required to
be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

GROUP’S EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group adopted the following philosophies in determining
its emolument policy:

° the Group adopts a performance driven policy so that each
individual is motivated to perform to the best he/she can;

° individual competence, contribution and responsibility are
taken into account when considering the remuneration
level for each employee;

° the Company offers provident fund, medical insurance and
leave benefits to provide basic coverage to staff for
retirement, sickness, rest and relaxation reasons,
respectively;

° share option grants are made from time to time to better
link the corporate performance as reflected in the share
price performance and the contributions made by the staff
in the intermediate to longer time frame; and

° the economic factors and the affordability of the Group are
taken into account in coming up with the overall
remuneration budget for the Group.

The Group has also adopted a discretionary bonus scheme.
Factors, such as overall financial performance, the affordability
of the Company and individual performance, have been taken
into account before determining the entitlement of each
qualified employee.

The determination of Directors’ remuneration has taken into
consideration of their respective responsibilities and
contributions to the Company and with reference to market
terms.

BREXBBEEN R_F_=F+_-A4
=t—H ARFHEENSEARER
AR BB P ERERARERS
KB EGRPI %336 RN ABFNER
fit 2 Efb AR R -

RNE B 2 F i BUR

AEBNETE#HPBRESRAA FED

o AEBRAURBRAZBE BB
BITHERERR

s HKEZERBUEBFMKFIRESZEE
BEAREN - EREBE :

o ARFRRHAED  BERRLERH
BA - DRI E TR A -
KRENERTEEARATE

e THRERLEBBRENAMEETRIEHA
BERRRBEARNAREERETE
BlzEmseE: &

s URERRRAKEZAELENER
rEEBETERFMRE CERRE -

AEETETRBEANS -EEEEM
REMBIRBSZEAREE CRAZER
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EFEHRE(H)

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director or other
officer of the Company for the time being acting in relation to
any affairs of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which he/she shall or may incur or sustain in or about
the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto provided that the indemnity shall not extend to
any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty of the above
persons. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and other
officers of the Company during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions entered into by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2023 are disclosed in Note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements. None of the related party
transactions as disclosed constituted disclosable non-exempted
connected transaction or non-exempted continuing connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the
Company had complied with the relevant requirements of the
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2023.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation to which
the Shareholders as controlled by reason of their holding of the
shares of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
the existing shareholders.

EEFRERX

RIFEBERMA - AR BEAEHT
EZARAREEZTLHMBREREABR
HERAR SFABTEREMEIZ S #E
HLRE 2 ERR  BA  RE - BX
BEMAX GABARRZEEESH
B HEREMUZE - HEREATTERE
EE bR AT Z EMRFFR TN HE AR
MEE -FR ARFAERARANEER
HiSREBEABRBEHENEZLSR
BEEERRIERRE -

EXRBERXRS
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors of the Company had any interest in any
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 and required disclosure under Rule 8.10 of
the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the listed securities of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

EVENT AFTER THE BALANCE DATE

On 25 January 2024, the Company entered into the settlement
agreement with certain creditors (the “Creditors”), pursuant to
which the Company has conditionally agreed to capitalise the
aggregate indebted amount of approximately HK$44.9 million
owed to the Creditors by the Company, the Creditors has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue 896,993,536 capitalisation
shares at the issue price of HK$0.05 per capitalisation share
under a specific mandate of the Company to be sought at the
extraordinary general meeting (the “Debt Capitalisation”). For
further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 7 February, 28 February and 28 March 2024.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there is no significant
event occurred after the end of the reporting period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on the information publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, at least 256% of the issued share capital of the
Company was held by the public during the year and up to the
date of this report, as required under the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the corporate governance report on
pages 33 to 51 of this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management of the Group are aware,
the Group has complied in material respects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. During the year ended 31
December 2023, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
168.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2023 have been reviewed by
the Audit Committee and have been duly approved by the
Board under the recommendation of the Audit Committee.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA
CPA Limited (“"ZHONGHUI ANDA"). ZHONGHUI ANDA will
retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of ZHONGHUI ANDA as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Li Gang
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024

8 <7 18 B8 % B R AR B

BRAKEEEE NEEENAN - KEED
REASTEEBTHAREXRGLEZERSE
AEENHRBEIRELER - BE-_FT =
FH-A=+t—"HBLEE AEEXEK
BERSTETERERIER -

AFEMBHRE

AEERBERBEAVBRFREZER
REENBEHREHIINE168H °

%4

BEREES

ARABE_FT-_=_F+-A=t+—HL
FREZREGEGMBHRROCAEZZE
EEHMHEFEEERZBEQZERET
IEAHEE

BB

AEBBE_FT -+ -_A=t+t—HL
FEEAABMBHRRIATELEZGAME
BHAERRB (PERE]) EX - -FER
%%A ﬂ Wi aERRBRENE
ZE -ZEZEBEZRBRERER/ARAXZ
@%m& RPN ARBEEBRBEFK

gLEE -

KRE=Z

TERMITEE
=R

FR  —T-_MFE=F=-+/\H

IREEEIBR IR B PR A A / 2023 FF 3R



/70

Independent Auditor’s Report
IR &
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I III I ZHONGHUI

To the member of Enviro Energy International Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Enviro Energy International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 80 to 167, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated
statement of other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our
report, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B3 BET R & ()

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

We have been unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the recoverability of
consideration receivables of approximately
HK$130,383,000 and HK$134,099,000 as at 31 December
2023 and 31 December 2022 respectively; in addition, we
have been unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the appropriate timing
for recognition of (i) the impairment loss of loan
receivables of approximately HK$176,040,000 and (ii) the
impairment loss of interest receivables of approximately
HK$39,250,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022.

There are no other satisfactory audit procedures that we
could adopt to determine whether the above amounts are
fairly stated in the consolidated financial statements.

In respect of the consideration receivables, the
management is still in the progress of taking various
actions, including but not limited to legal actions, against
the respective debtors. No result from actions is available
up to the date of this report for justifying the extent of the
recoverability of consideration receivables. In the absence
of information in relation to the financial status of the
debtors on assessing the respective abilities for
settlement, the management considered that there is
uncertainty on recovering the consideration receivables.
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In respect of the loan receivables and interest receivables,
the management, after receiving the court order with a
result unfavourable to the Group in respect of recovering
the loan and interest receivables, provided for an
impairment loss of loan receivables of approximately
HK$176,040,000 and an impairment loss of the relevant
interest receivables of approximately HK$39,250,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2022. The management
could not provide us with sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to justify whether the impairment loss of loan
receivables and impairment loss of interest receivables
should be made in the last year or in the prior years.

Due to the uncertainties in relation to the civil judgement
as disclosed in note 26(ii) to the consolidated financial
statements, we have been unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence for us to assess whether no
additional provision has been provided concerning the
repayment obligations under the civil judgement as at 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022 are fairly stated
and the profit or loss effect on the additional provision of
repayment obligations for the year ended 31 December
2023 and 31 December 2022 are properly reflected.

Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
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Due to the insufficiency of supporting documentation and
explanations for accounting books and records in respect
of certain subsidiaries of the Group, namely Qianhai
Shitong Supply Chain (Shenzhen) Company Limited and
Qianhai Guoxing Finance Lease (Shenzhen) Company
Limited (“Certain Subsidiaries”) for the period from 1
January 2022 to 30 December 2022 (being the date of
disposal of Certain Subsidiaries) (the “Period Ended
2022"), we were unable to carry out audit procedures to
satisfy ourselves as to whether the following income and
expenses for the Period Ended 2022 and the segment
information and other related disclosure notes in relation

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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to certain subsidiaries of the Group, as included in the BB MEME) EEEHFEE T HE®R
consolidated financial statements of the Group, have been REMIEHE LI BAR
accurately recorded and properly accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements:
(a) Income and expenses: (a) UAREX:
For the
Period Ended
2022
HZE
1EHARA
HK$'000
FHET
Impairment losses on loan and interest B E SRR EWA EREEE
receivables (215,290)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEN B A F) S 7,229
Loss for the year FEBE (208,061)
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(b) Related party transactions and disclosures:

No sufficient evidence has been provided to satisfy
ourselves as to the existence, accuracy and
completeness of the disclosures of the related party
transactions for the Period Ended 2022 in relation to
Certain Subsidiaries and their operations as required
by Hong Kong Accounting Standard 24 (Revised)
“Related Party Disclosures”.

Any adjustments to the figures as described above points
1 to 3 might have a consequential effect on the Group’s
financial performance and cash flows for the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022 and the financial positions of
the Group as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, and the
related disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial
statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code"”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
qualified opinion.

Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B3 BET R & ()

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which mentions that the Group incurred a loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$35.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, and as
at 31 December 2023, the Group had net current liabilities and
net liabilities of approximately HK$154.1 million and HK$63.9
million, respectively. In addition, as at 31 December 2023, the
Group's bank and cash balances of approximately HK$28.0
million is insufficient to cover the current liabilities of
approximately HK$364.5 million. These conditions indicate a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is
not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. In addition to the matters described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion section and the Material Uncertainty
Related to Going Concern section, we have determined the
matter described below to be the key audit matter to be
communicated in our report.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)

B3R ET R & (48)

Refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group measured its investment properties at fair value with
the changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated profit or
loss. This fair value measurement is significant to our audit
because the balance of investment properties of approximately
HK$94,118,000 as at 31 December 2023 and the fair value loss
of approximately HK$28,943,000 for the year then ended are
material to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,
the Group's fair value measurement involves application of
judgement and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

— Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of
the external valuer engaged by the Group;

— Obtaining the external valuation report and meeting with
the external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to
support significant judgements and assumptions applied
in the valuation model;

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
model to supporting evidence;

— Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model,
and

— Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement in
the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s fair value measurement of the
investment properties is supported by the available evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B3 BET R & ()

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information in the
Company's annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. As described in the Basis for
Qualified Opinion section above, we were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate evidence about the consideration
receivables and impairment loss of loan receivables and interest
receivables, provision for repayment obligations and limited
accounting books and records of certain subsidiaries of the
Group and the relevant gain on disposal of subsidiaries.
Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or not the
other information is materially misstated with respect to these
matters.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)

BB AR & (8)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B3 BET R & ()

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's
website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/
Our-views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Sze Lin Tang

Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number P03614

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

HFEEmR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #BZ2-—FE_-_=F+_-A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
HaF FET FET
Revenue A 10 531,504 269,577
Cost of sales fHE AR (490,259) (252,835)
Gross profit EF 41,245 16,742
Other gains, net H b F Pz 11 1,603 164
Administrative and operating TR P 48 &
expenses (16,804) (10,007)
Interest income FEUA 12 268 2
Fair value loss on investment KREMEARBEEBE
properties 19 (28,943) (35,795)
Impairment loss on trade and other EUE 5 8k 7k & H 4th fE Uk
receivables, net IR EEEFE (133) (517)
Impairment loss on loan and JE WS & R K E U R EOR B
interest receivables B8 (215,290)
Impairment loss on intangible EmRAEREERE
assets (330)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB A WS 31 7,229
Loss on deregistration of BUHEME AR EE
subsidiaries (208)
Loss from operations K EE (2,764) (238,010)
Finance costs RN 13 (12,001) (10,709)
Loss before tax FRELATES IR 14 (248,719)
Income tax expense Frisfim 15 (3,685)
Loss for the year FEEE (24,286) (252,404)
(Loss)/profit for the year UTREEBGEE (BE),
attributable to: mF
— Owners of the Company R AYNEIE ¥ =-DN (35,750) (257,028)
— Non-controlling interests — SEIEPRRE RS 11,464 4,624
(252,404)
Loss per share (in HK cent) BREE GBL)
Basic and diluted ERREE 17 (47.39)

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should be — _F#li4R4 1835 3K FE ELRE M 5T — GF RO -
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income

GeEREMEEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE T =+ _HA=1—HILFE

Loss for the year FEEFB

Other comprehensive Ht 2wz (BE)
income/(loss), after tax: BRBLE

Iltems that may be reclassified HiEA S 7 BE 8
subsequently to profit or loss: ZIHEE -

Exchange differences arising on BREBINEBEE 2
translation of foreign operations & =%

Exchange differences reclassified HEMBAREZEFTHEE
to profit or loss upon disposal of B EHE5E

subsidiaries

Other comprehensive income/(loss)

FEHM2EKE(EE) -

for the year, net of tax HBRTEIE

Total comprehensive loss FEZHEBRARE
for the year

Total comprehensive (loss)/ UTEEREEFESZE
income for the year (F58) WEBE .
attributable to:

— Owners of the Company — AREHEBA

— Non-controlling interests — IR =

The above consolidated statement of other comprehensive
income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying

notes.

2023 2022
—E== R

HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET THETT
(252,404)
(12,566)

3,681
(8,885)
(23,713) (261,289)
(35,001) (265,797)
11,288 4,508
(261,289)

st R S A 2 T UK A R R B P P S —

DFRIE -
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBIRRER

At 31 December 2023 R-ZFE-_=#+-HA=+—H

Notes
A&t
Non-current assets REBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB R E 18
Investment properties REYE 19
Current assets REBEE
Inventories e 21
Trade receivables FEWE 5 R 22
Deposits, prepayments and e BARIBEREM
other receivables FE W FRIE 23
Bank and cash balances MITRIE S &5
Total assets EEHAE
Capital and reserves BEXRFE
Equity attributable to owners KAREEABLER
of the Company
Share capital N 27
Reserves ]
Non-controlling interests FEFEAR M 2R
Total deficit &AL A

ENVIRO ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

2023

—g==

HK$°000
FEx

94,139

16,229
28,331

137,878
28,027

210,465

304,604

27,120
(106,800)

(79,680)
15,796

(63,884)

2022

HK$'000
TR

23
126,434

126,457

20,226
100,731

138,568
8,143

267,668

394,125

27,120
(71,799)

(44,679)
4,508

(40,171)



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

FEMBRAR (B)

At 31 December 2023 R-EFE-_=#+_-HA=+—H

Notes

Kzt
Non-current liabilities *kREBEE
Other borrowings HiER 26
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables JERTE SRR R EA

FEF 5RIE 24

Contract liabilities BHEE 25
Shareholders’ loans IRERE 32(b)
Loans from fellow subsidiaries RKERRMBRARIZER 32(c)
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary &[] Z KB A &) 78 32(d)
Loans from related parties KEEBEALZER 32(e)
Other borrowings HEmER 26
Income tax payable FERTETIS
Total liabilities EEHAE
Total equity and liabilities REaREEER

The consolidated financial statements on pages 80 to 167 have
been approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2024 and

are signed on its behalf by:

Approved by:

Li Gang
=1
Director

EBEF

The above consolidated statement of financial position should
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2023 2022
—=-= ===
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi8 Fis
115,559 189,270
5,760 -
11,410 9,986
29,570 28,139
- 114
3,887 -
196,682 202,287
1,671 4,500
364,539 434,296
368,488 434,296
304,604 394,125

FOEI7TEZEAVBRREEETERN

—ZEF N

FZAZTN\BH#EKRHTT

EERREFSHRE

KR ESRE

Jiang Senlin

HitER A
(g -

EZ/RM
Director

EF

S 755 IR 00 3% R B PR Y A — F
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEEZEHR
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z=F - =F+=H=+—HIFF/Z

Attributable to owners of the Company

RRRRE AR

Share Non-
Share Share Capital option  Translation  Statutory Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity

Bx  RHEE  ERRE  BRERE  ENBE  GERE  ZHER A FEREE  BEAR
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
TER TEL TEL TER TER TER TEL TER TER TEL

(Note)
(i)

. ______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
At January 2022 R-F--F-F-H 27,120 1,108,395 19,980 90 14,540 - (949,007) 21,118 - 118
Comprehensive loss 2EER
(Loss)income for the year ER(BR)/ ha - - - - - - 51008 (25708 4624 (252404
Other comprehensive income £t 2 Al
Exchange differences arising fom  EEFNERELEZ

translation of foreign operations  EXZHE - - - - (12,450) - - (12,450) (116) (12,566
Exchange differences reclassified  tH EHBA R E3

toprofitor loss upon disposal of ~ AEZEREHEE

subsidiaries - - - - 3,681 - - 3,681 - 3,681
Total comprehensive (lossl/income 2 (§5%8)/M#£E - - - - (8.769) - (257028 (265,797) 4508 (261,269)
Transactions with ownersin ~~ SEEEANEEAZ

their capacity as owners SRETRS
Lapse of share options BRERR - - - %0) - - 90 - - -
At31 Decernber 2022 e Jutt

TZA=1-H 21,120 1,108,39% 19,980 - 51 - (1,205,945 (44,679) 4,508 (40,171)

At 1 January 2023 R=E-=F-f-H 21120 1,108,395 19,980 (1,205,945) (44,679) 4,508 (40,171)
Comprehensive (loss)/income 278 (§18) /%
[Loss)profit for the year EE(BR) /&) (35,750 (35,750) 11,464 (24,286)
Other comprehensive 22 (58 Wk

(loss)/income
Exchange differences arising fom £ ESHEREL 2

translation of foreign operations X EE - - 749 (176)
Transfer to statutory reserve ERTIEEE 3959 (3,959) = =
Total comprehensive (oss)income 27 (B 1)/ MXBE 3,959 (39,709) (35,001) 11,288 (23713)
At 31 Decernber 2023 ik

=t-A 21120 1,108,395 19,980 6,520 3,959 (1,245,654) (79,680) 15,796 (63,884)

Note: Kzt -

The statutory reserve of the Group refers to The People’s Republic of China ~ A&EEHPAFEHERTEARLME ([HE])8EE
("PRC") statutory reserve fund. Appropriations to such reserve fund are made  {##E & - ZEEFESNWBRTIRTEMMEB R BETEHH
out of profit after tax as recorded in the statutory financial statements of the PRC ~ R&X IR MBR R E G M P B L - 22 B AEERAE
subsidiaries. The amount should not be less than 10% of the profit after tax as  EMBREXFTCLEENBTHEEFN10% - B IELZETR
recorded in the statutory financial statements unless the aggregate amount BB B R R ME RN 0% < SETEHER AR
exceeds 50% of the registered capital of the PRC subsidiaries. The statutory  #@AFFEEE (NE) » WA FEBENEEITH TR
reserve can be used to make up prior year losses, if any, and can be applied in & A E B A FHER -

conversion into the PRC subsidiaries’ capital by means of capitalisation issue.

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should — _F it 47 & #E 25 & B & & B2 BB MY B 52 — 6
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. BE °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ2-F_=F+_-A=+—HILFF

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXK
Loss before tax PR A% AT ET 1B (14,765) (248,719)
Adjustments for: BTANIEB fEL %
Interest income FB A (268) (2)
Finance costs A& AR 12,001 10,709
Depreciation of property, plant and M BEREETE
equipment 1 6
Fair value loss on investment properties REME QAR BEEE 28,943 35,795
Gain on discount of other borrowings H i & FRAE IR W (1,554) -
Impairment losses on trade and other  FEUE 5 BR 30 E Ath JB UL 518
receivables, net WEEEFE 517
Impairment loss on loan and interest FEW & 3 R FE MR BRI E B 1B
receivables 215,290
Impairment on intangible assets mEERE 330
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries S B A R ES (7,229)
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries BUB s B A B E51E 208
Operating cash flows before EEECEBA 2K
movements in working capital ReRE 24,491 6,905
Change in inventories FE# 3,452 (20,538)
Change in trade receivables FEWE 2 RN EE) 69,922 (100,208)
Change in deposits, prepayments and &% « B 5RI8 & E fb B WG IE
other receivables #H) (3,276) (2,859)
Change in trade and other payables JERT B 5 BR 30 % L JiE < 5B
9 (80,897) 108,569
Change in contract liabilities BB ERS 5,786 -
Cash generated from/(used in) REmB /(A ZR:
operations 19,478 (8,131)
Income tax paid ERATSH (12,255) -
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/ BESEE TS (FTH) REFH
(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES (8,131)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETE
Interest received EFE 2
Purchase of property, plant and BAWE  BERFZ
equipment (21)
Disposal of subsidiaries (net of cash HEMBAR (MEREERE
and cash equivalents disposed of) kRS EEY) (28)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/ RETERE/ (FFR)BRESFE
(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES (47)

BASERERAR AT / 2023 4 15 8b



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

ZEBHERER(8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #BZ2-—FE_-_=F+_-A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —_EFEq_-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEH
Advance to a fellow subsidiary BIEESSIEAGIEEN -
Proceeds from loans from fellow KB W%WE’&ETZ%?XZ
subsidiaries FT{S T 3,500
Proceeds from shareholders’ loans REEFKE ?%?K 27,850
Proceeds from loans from KEBBEBALTZERZ
related parties FTiS §E -
Proceeds from other borrowings HEERABHIE -
Repayment of loan from fellow BEERBRRMBAR ZEK
subsidiaries (23,979)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM MEEEMBRESFE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 12,074 7,371
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN BeERBESZEYWEMCRD)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FE (807)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FENzBERREEEY
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 8,898
EXCHANGE DIFFERENCE ON CASH BERBLZEEY2
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EREEE 52
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT &4 B4¢RBSZEY
END OF YEAR, REPRESENTED BY MAERTERSARH
BANK AND CASH BALANCES 8,143

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read I it ,ﬁv? &R & & E B EE W E— O
in conjunction with the accompanying notes. FE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ2—F - =+ _HA=+—HILFZ

GENERAL INFORMATION

Enviro Energy International Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability under the
Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands on 3 July
2002. The address of its registered office is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands. The address of its principal
place of business is 20/F, No.9 Des Voeux Road West,
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong. The Company's shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) engaged in sales
of materials business and properties investment in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”), as at 31 December 2023, Wonderland
International Investment Holdings Limited (the
“Controlling Shareholder”), a company incorporated in
Hong Kong, is the immediate and ultimate holding
company of the Company, and Mr. Li Gang (“Mr. Li"),
Executive Director and Chairman of the Board, is the
ultimate controlling party of the Company.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousand of Hong Kong dollars (HK$'000), which is the
Company’'s functional and the Group’s presentation
currency, unless otherwise stated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

2.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss attributable to the owners of
the Company of approximately HK$35.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023. In addition, as at 31
December 2023, the Group had net current liabilities and
net liabilities of approximately HK$154.1 million and
HK$63.9 million, respectively and the Group's bank and
cash balances of approximately HK$28.0 million is
insufficient to cover the current liabilities of approximately
HK$364.5 million. These conditions indicate a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon the financial support of the Controlling
Shareholder, at a level sufficient to finance the working
capital requirements of the Group. The Controlling
Shareholder has agreed to provide adequate funds for the
Group to meet its liabilities as they fall due within the next
twelve months from 31 December 2023. In addition, as
disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, subsequent to the year-end date on 25
January 2024, the Company entered into a settlement
agreement with certain creditors of the Group by way of
capitalising the debts with a total carrying amount of
approximately HK$44.9 million. In the opinion of the
directors, in light of the above plan and measures, the
Group will have sufficient working capital to fulfil its
financial obligations as and when they full due in the
coming twelve months from 31 December 2023.
Accordingly, the directors are satisfied that it is appropriate
to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to the
consolidated financial statements to adjust the value of
the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current
assets and liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 January 2023. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards; Hong Kong Accounting Standards;
and Interpretations. The adoption of these amendments
has had no significant impact on the results and financial
position of the Group. The Group has not changed
significantly on its material accounting policies or make
retrospective adjustments as a result of adopting these
amendments.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group
has already commenced an assessment of the impact of
these new and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position
to state whether these new and revised HKFRSs would
have a material impact on its results of operations and
financial position. The Group does not intend to early
adopt these standards before their respective effective
dates.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of investment properties which are
carried at their fair values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the Directors
to exercise their judgements in the process of applying
the accounting policies. The areas involving critical
judgements and areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to these consolidated financial statements,
are disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The Group
has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’'s
returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by
other parties, to determine whether it has control. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has
the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE M BHRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii)
the Group's share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the
Company. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between the non-
controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE—_FE_=—FF+_H=1—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4,

(Continued)

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with
owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value
of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

(i) Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
HK$. The functional currency of the Group's principal
operating entities is Renminbi. The Directors
consider that choosing HK$ as the presentation
currency best suits the needs of the shareholders

and investors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z—

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(ii)

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using
the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at
the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses
resulting from this translation policy are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values
in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ2—F - =+ _H=+—HILFZ

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.
(Continued)

BEARSEBE(E)

(iii) Translation on consolidation (iii) MERBMWBRE

The results and financial position of all the Group's
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Group's presentation currency are translated into
the Group's presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in the translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign
entities and of borrowings are recognised in
translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold,
such exchange differences are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ—ZF —

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during
the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method

to allocate the cost of the assets to their residual values

over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold improvements 3 year or over the lease term,
whichever is shorter

Computer equipment and  2-3 years
software
Office equipment 5 years

The estimated residual values, useful lives and
depreciation method are reviewed, at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ2—F - =+ _H=+—HILFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, EREFTBEE(E)

(Continued)

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. An investment
property is measured initially at its cost including all direct
costs attributable to the property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated
at its fair value based on valuation by an external
independent valuer. Gains or losses arising from changes
in fair value of the investment property are recognised in
profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the property, and is recognised in profit
or loss.

The Group as lessor
Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all
the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as operating leases. Rental income from
operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ—ZF —

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets but has not retained control on
the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received is recognised in profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-
out basis. The cost of finished goods comprises all costs
of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred
in bringing the inventories to its present location and
condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price less further costs expected to be incurred to
completion and disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ—ZF —

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset
within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value, plus
directly attributable transaction costs except in the case of
investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified as financial
assets at amortised cost.

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are
classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

— the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less loss allowance for
expected credit losses.

SEFZAS+—AILFEE

4.

BEARSEBE(E)

HWRBEAMNESSHMEE  MA K
FRE BN AT ISR EHRAR
NEE AZBAEERR 5 HEERE
RABRLERILHER - BT RAAE
EMERXZRAER  EBEBER
BRAREBEIENIRERI - WiE
BBEBRBANBEIRNREER
FEMR BV X ZR AR B R R o

AEBENSREED HITBEHAT
BRZEMEE -

HEMEE (BREBKREZRRANE
fib FEUER ) 75 & A T /IR &4 - Rl
5 AULER

— REBEIR-ABE/FBAE
ENREA R e RH) EHE
TRE R

— RREBENANGRREETNE
ERMELAERINAE MAKE
BASBEMENREIR

BRAEEERUNERNETXREHNX
ANGERMEREEENEIRREE

ENVIRO ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE M BHRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected
credit losses are the weighted average of credit losses
with the respective risks of a default occurring as the
weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount
equal to the expected credit losses that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of that
financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”)
for trade receivables or if the credit risk on that financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade receivables) has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument
at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected
credit losses that represents the expected credit losses
that result from default events on that financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.

BE—FE =+ _H=1—HIFE

4.

EREBER (8)

REELIREHKA AT RN EREE
IR EEBERREREE - BH
EEERASNEFHEERE 29
A% BBEERONERERINE -

REMEHR  SWBKE ZIRFKNKE
ERE ERERARE KE LT
TRITAME  AREZEEXNS R
TEBHAMA R EHBRENENEMN
PrELMEMEEER ((£HEHNR
HEEBRDNSRAEZESRT
HEMEERE -

MREREHR MTA (BKRE
SERFGEIN NEERR B B RHER
VAR K i 7+ NEBREE R

mAMEREERERT  KKZE
TRITANREHEER12/EA A AT
HIRMENEHMEENTEREES
BN AEZATBRTAN
iR -

EHEEBRS BRI AR REHRE
BREAEREMFECEMELMED
TR BEPHERSREREHER -

RECEIRRIER AR AT / 2023 F 3k

99



100

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of
change in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for
specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set
out below.

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE M BHRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer with reference to
the customary business practices and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised product or service exceeds one
year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over
time if:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue
is recognised by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the product or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ—ZF —

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
at the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged in profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs and involves the
payment of termination benefits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE M BHRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain directors and employees. The fair value of options
granted under the employee share option plan is
recognised as staff costs with a corresponding increase in
equity.

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period,
the entity revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting
and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the
revision to original estimates, if any, in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of options that are expected to vest.
The total expense is recognised over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied.

After vesting date, when the share options are forfeited
prior to the expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in the “Share option reserve” will be transferred to the
“Accumulated losses” within the consolidated statement
of changes in equity.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on
that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average
of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining
a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax
losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to
be recovered through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model of the Group whose business objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred
tax for such investment properties are measured based on
the expected manner as to how the properties will be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group's most senior executive management for the
purpose of allocating resources and assessing the
performance of the Group's various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of productions processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ2—F - =+ _HA=+—HILFZ

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family
is related to the Group if that person:

() bhas control or joint control over the Group;

(i) bhas significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Company.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

() The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(i)~ One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint venture
of a member of a group of which the other
entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ—ZF —

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)  (Continued)

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group. If the
Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant

influence over the entity or is a member of the

key management personnel of the entity (or of

a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which

it is a part, provides key management personnel

services to the Company or to a parent of the

Company.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets other than
receivables, to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of any
impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ—ZF —

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-
generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase.

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can
be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group's position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
attributable to the owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves.

The Directors review the cost of capital and the associated
risk on a regular basis, and take appropriate actions to
adjust the Group capital structure in a timely manner.

In order to fund the Group's trading business, properties
investment and current development, significant amounts
of capital in the form of borrowing or equity, or a
combination of both, are considered to be necessary in the
future. The Directors consider that such funding for the
future development will be available as and when required.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on the recommendations of the Directors,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share
buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE M BHRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

6.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 6.

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.

(a)

(b)

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of
which depends upon the plans and measures to be
undertaken by the Group to mitigate the liquidity
pressure and improve its financial position. Details
are explained in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred tax for investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the Directors have reviewed the
Group's investment property portfolios and
concluded that the Group's investment properties
are held under a business model of which the
objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale.
Therefore, in determining the Group's deferred tax
for investment properties, the Directors have
rebutted the presumption that investment properties
measured using the fair value model are recovered
through sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ—ZF —

6.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 6.

(Continued)

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

(a)

(b)

Fair values of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent professional
valuer to assess the fair values of the investment
properties. In determining the fair values, the valuer
has utilised a method of valuation which involves
certain estimates. The Directors have exercised their
judgement and are satisfied that the method of
valuation is reflective of the current market
conditions.

Impairment of financial assets of amortised costs

The loss allowances for financial assets at amortised
cost (including trade receivables and deposits and
other receivables) are based on assumptions about
risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group
uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group's past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at
the end of each reporting period.

SEFZAS+—AILFEE

B9 8 I B ) = E A5 ()

A TARBERREBARAK I EER

& R fhET T HEE
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BRABRRE T EERZABARR

HEELABREER T —
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EALBRERNHE -

(a)

(b)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ—ZF —

6.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 6.

(Continued)

(b)

Impairment of financial assets of amortised costs
(Continued)

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure expected credit losses which uses a
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables. For trade receivables which have
impaired, the Group assessed individually and
provided for credit losses allowance. If no reasonable
and supportable information is available without
undue cost for expected credit losses measurement,
the trade receivables were grouped by reference to
the credit risk characteristics and assessed
collectively for credit losses allowance. When
measuring expected credit loss, the Group considers
the credit loss experience, ageing of overdue trade
receivables, customers’ repayment history and
customers’ financial position, and adjusts by taking
into consideration current conditions and forward-
looking factors.

Changes in assumptions used could materially affect
the fair value of these balances and as a result affect
the Group's financial condition and results of
operation.

Details of the key assumptions and inputs used for
trade receivables and deposits and other receivables
are disclosed in Notes 22 and 23 respectively.

SEFZAS+—AILFE

B9 62 I B ) = E A5 (4F)

(b)

RBHRATENMBEE 2R
18 (/&)

AEBRAEBMEREELE
IEBIE N ZAHERMEEE

18 IR B RWE 5 R
EREBEMEREERER
B BN HLRENERES

BRAR - A EE B R A AE L TR
MEEERRE -

fi 5t EFREE
EEER - A A I LA
BERNETAERA - RIKNEE

520 1 B LR R R 53
RESAETEE - HRTEE
H(E SR - Rt B B
B - A EEE RS R

B RWEZERFBHKEK T
FPHEERELREF T B

S AAER E RO B EE 1A
FETHE

PR EBRR M B 8 A B 32 SR
MAREBEEXNERTZE A
FEASEMBHRRREERE

==
4 o

FEWE 5 8RR A R AR & e HoAth &
WA PR A A £ B RER LB A
BB FFIE ORI M 522 ] 233

B o

RECEIRRIER AR AT / 2023 F 3k

113



114

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

6.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 6.

(Continued)

(c)

Income taxes and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are recognised
when management considers it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences or tax losses can be
utilised. The outcome of their actual utilisation may
be different.

BE—_FE_=—FF+_H=1—HIFE
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(c)

ENVIRO ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

FRiG i R R FE B ]

REBAEGMNE T RDERERO AT
B -NEBEEMSHBEER A
EHEXRMAEF - REEEBBRE
THEEZHRRMENETASR
TEEUNRZ LFTE - HxF
EFENRERBHBRENE AR
MERTR - AEERBTEE
th 788 7E B O P 1S B SO S AR TR
B

EEEBRARKREAEARE
s M AR SR = R e Al &)
RREE R - ARE THREE
ENREBEEBRNELERFSREE
TR - ERBAERAEDT
[@] ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

HE—F—

For the year ended 31 December 2023

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

SEFZAS+—AILFE

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial

markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group's financial performance.

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the respective Group’s entities. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amount of the bank and cash balances,
trade and other receivables included in the
consolidated statement of financial position
represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to the Group's financial assets.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales
are made to customers with an appropriate credit
history. The credit risk on bank and cash balances is
limited because the counterparties are banks with
high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, in respect of trade
receivables, the Group is exposed to concentration
of credit risk to the extent that approximately HK$9.0
million (2022: HK$14.1 million) of trade receivables is
attributable by a customer. In order to minimise the
credit risk, the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up actions are taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual debt at each balance sheet
date to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts.

The Group considers whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of financial assets
on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting
period by comparing the risk of a default occurring as
at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the
date of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information. Especially the following information is
used:

— internal credit rating;
— external credit rating (if available);

— actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant change
to the debtor's ability to meet its obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the debtor;

— significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor; and

— significant changes in the value of the collateral
or in the quality of guarantees or credit
enhancements; and

BE—_FE_=—FF+_H=1—HIFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE—FE =+ _H=1—HIFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 7.

— significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the debtor,
including changes in the payment status of

debtor.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a
debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a
contractual payment. A default on a financial asset is
when the counterparty fails to make contractual
payments within 60 days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor
failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.
The Group normally categorises a loan or receivable
for write off when a debtor fails to make contractual
payments greater than 360 days past due. Where
loans or receivables have been written off, the
Group, if practicable and economical, continues to
engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover

the receivable due.

The Group uses two categories for non-trade
receivables which reflect their credit risk and how
the loss provision is determined for each of the
categories. In calculating the expected credit loss
rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for
each category and adjusts for forward looking data.

B ERERE (&)

— BERANEHRBERITA

AR R 28 -

HEKEANE NN KEHER
JIH - EERARE®BRERD
KiE LT - EHF T RERAELN
[ EI A 12 60 B AR H A 3K
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QS R B R R B 2 AICIE K
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fEFRAH) & K915 5580 HA #8318 360
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A o ME R EYFIRLE
MH - AIAKE (EEBRATR
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JE UK IE o

AEEKIFESHENEREES
B RME - AREDBERREK
ENEERR  URBZHEFIE
ERRBENTE - R ETEH
EEBERXR  AEESZEES
BRIMESL BIEE - A SR

HEIRIEL I -
Category Definition Loss provision
5l E& EiEERE
Performing Low risk of default and strong capacity to pay 12 month expected losses
B %) B AR AR & AT 5Ree 7198 12 1B A e A& 18

Non-performing
2!

Significant increase in credit risk

=B R AE LT

Lifetime expected losses
Han A ETEHEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #BZ2-—FE_-_=F+_-A=+—HILFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 7. HBERERERE(HE)

(c) Liquidity risk (c) RBELREMR
The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and REE E’JEﬁZﬁEEHH#TWMETJ&
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it FEHRBSESFTE - UHERHEE
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and availability TﬂE%’]ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ’éﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ&E
of financial support from controlling shareholder to HRRSHEETE -
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long
term.
The table below analyses the Group's financial THRAMAREERES LA
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on SRS 3 NS SR B3 S g =!
the remaining period at the date of the consolidated HBEAERI AN NERE
statement of financial position to the contractual BoZRABERSERELR
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are MBI °

the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Less than
1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years Total
—F0E WELE
-FR BREAT  BZEUT @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR THT
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=Zf
+=B=+-8
Trade and other payables ERESEIK
TR 114,844 - 114,844
Other borrowings EtER 208,392 ; 213,755
Shareholders' loans BRER 11,410 11,410
Loans from fellow subsidiaries ~ RERZMEL A2
B 29,570 29,570
Loans from related parties REBHEEALZER 3,887 3,887
368,103 5,363 373,466
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZH
+=A=+-H
Trade and other payables ERESETR
At EHE 186,272 - - 186,272
Other borrowings HEtER 208,721 - - 208,721
Shareholders' loans REER 9,986 - - 9,986
Loan from fellow subsidiaries RERZMBARZ
B 28,139 - - 28,139
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary FEfT[E R KB A AFE 114 - - 114

433,232 - - 433,232
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ—ZF

7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 7.

(d)

(e)

(f)

—=F+-AS+—AULFE

Interest rate risk (d)
The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets

and liabilities other than cash at banks, other
borrowings, shareholders’ loans, loans from fellow
subsidiaries and loans from related parties.

The Directors consider the Group's exposure of the
bank balances to cash flow interest rate risk is not
significant as the interest rate fluctuation on bank
balances is minimal and the Group’s income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent
of changes in interest rates. As at 31 December
2023 and 2022, the Group’'s other borrowings,
shareholders’ loans, loans from fellow subsidiaries
and loans from related parties bore fixed interest
rates which expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk. Management considers the fair value
interest rate risk is insignificant to the Group.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is performed.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy in relation to interest rate risks. The
directors monitor the Group’'s exposure on an
ongoing basis and will consider hedging interest rate
risk should the need arise.

Categories of financial instruments (e)

Financial assets tRMEE

Financial assets at amortised BEEKN AT ENEREE
cost (including cash and cash (BEREEBSEEY)
equivalents)

Financial liabilities EtHmas

Financial liabilities at amortised cost X & $5pk A7 BRI S R B &

Fair values (f)

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

MEEREE (&)

AR E R

fREIRTTHRE HWER - BRE
K KEREMBRARZERK
KEEBEALTZERI K&
BYEEAHEEERBE-

BEERE ARRITEH TR
B ENIR Jktﬁ;.‘%z&ﬁﬁ%
BATEEZRERENERAR
REK o $‘$IE’JH$U\&Z<“%IE
EREBRMEBI R EEE -
RZEBEZ=FR-F-__F+=
A=+—HB A&£EMHNHEMBE
FoBRRER RERRZWEAR
ACERRREBHEEALTZE
FOAEEFIEREE - E&K‘E‘EIE
BRAREBEMNERER EEER
BARBEMNERBEANEEM
FWREKN - At - WHEHETH
RN HT o

NS B B A I 8 BLN = EL R I E
EAA] ) R S5 0 BRSR ﬁ%AFi“‘i
ERAKEZRAR EEH

&L BE A KRR -

CRMIADE
2023 2022
—E-= —_F__—
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx TAET
186,777 243,009
360,342 426,798
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #BZ2-—FE_-_=F+_-A=+—HILFE

120

8.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The following disclosures of fair value measurements use
a fair value hierarchy that categories into three levels the
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of
the event or change in circumstances that caused the
transfer.

(a)

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31

8.

AR EEN B

ARNBE/KEDTS2EERTERH
BT ZBFR 555 E B E TR
LB EB BN ZERE - TR
BRARNEERRAENA(EE
HZMERNPRAUGEAREBED
BABIED S =R :

—RBABE HREEXEEBER
BRI RE CREFHE) -

F_RBWABIE : BRE —ABREOR
BUASH BEEXBBEAIERIAERE
EEHHEABE -

F=RBARE  BEXAEBENLA
B ABUIE -

AREENRR RN ELEHERNE
HEBEREEHE AR =—EEREE
AR -

(a R=F=-=F+=-RA=+—H

December 2023: NAREBEEBRIEE
Fair value measurements using:
EAUTERFENAAEE:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Description B E—R B-& B=M #at

HK$000
TET

Recurring fair value
measurements:

Investment properties
Commercial — PRC

Gl i

LEEE

Total recurring fair value REMEQ R
measurements HE

HK$'000
TEx

HK$'000
TET

HK$°000

TERT

94,118

94,118 94,118
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ—ZF

8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31

December 2022:

—=F+-AS+—AULFE

8. AREEFTEE)

E’;

B+ -A=+—HH
NABEEREE:

Fair value measurements using:

ERATERFENRALER:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Description Bt E—] F; E=MH 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FErT FET FET FET
Recurring fair value REMAREENE:
measurements:
Investment properties BEME
Commercial — PRC EA-H - - 126,434 126,434
Total recurring fair value ~ &F MU AL EEELE
measurements - - 126,434 126,434
During the year ended 31 December 2023, there HE—_Z-_=-F+=-HA=+—H
were no transfer between Level 1 and Level 2, or HFE TERE—RNE R
transfers into or out of Level 3. 2R JAESEE = REA
R o
During the year ended 31 December 2022, investment HE_T-_—_F+=ZH=+—H
properties amounting to RMB172,528,000 were HEFEFE BEWEAREK

transferred from measurement based on level 2 to
level 3 as a result of the status of investment properties
changed during the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Directors believe change in the valuation method is
more representable to the fair value of the investment
properties.

172,528,000 T HIZE — it =

BRIEE=NFE

HRED

¥REBEE-_ZET_-_—_F+=A
“t+—HIFERNRREE 3

EHREGBENENE

BREWMENRAEE-

FENE RERR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_—_E_—fF+_HA=1—HILFEF

8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 8. AREBEE(HE)
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value (b) BRE=ZFRAABESTEZEE
based on level 3 HER
Investment
properties
Commercial
Description Bt — PRC
BREWE
B — HE
HK$'000
FET
At 1 January 2023 N-—EBE=-_=%—H—H 126,434
Losses recognised in profit or loss* REZTRAZEER* (28,943)
Exchange difference EHER (3,373)
At 31 December 2023 R=B=-=F+=ZHA=+-—H 94,118
*Include losses for assets held at the end *BIERBEHRFAFEE
of reporting period BB (28,943)
HK$'000
FET
At 1 January 2022 N-_E-——F—H—H -
Transfer from level 2 to level 3 FRNEE-_REAE=MH
during the year 172,528
Losses recognised in profit or loss* RIBR PR 2 EE~ (35,795)
Exchange difference =58 (10,299)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+=ZA=+—H 126,434
*Include losses for assets held at the end *EERRERMIEEE
of reporting period B8 (35,795)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ—ZF

8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs
used in fair value measurements

The Board is responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required for
financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair
value measurements.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will
normally engage external valuation experts with the
recognised professional qualifications and recent
experience to perform the valuations.

The following table gives information about how the
fair values of the Group's investment properties

carried at fair value are determined.

Level 3 fair value measurements

—=F+-AS+—AULFE

[NREEFE (&)

(c)

FEEREABEERFRAR
BEEERERNMGEERNR
WABBHKE

EEeREMBWMEMBRNE
F&EﬁZQﬁ@ﬂ%’@%%
Z\\JLC FTEEI’E °©

MEZMAABENEMS * &
SEREZEAEBHEBRIER
MEB A INTHERERAETTH
g -

TREIAEEAEBIZAR
EBEFHENREMENREE-

BE=RDINEEE

Effect on
fair value
Valuation Unobservable for increase Fair value
Description technique inputs Range of inputs 2023
BB M
HAREE —E-=
3 ER TUBERAZE gE 02 AREE
HK$'000
TER
Investment Term and Estimated rental value RMB8.4 to Increase
properties — PRC  reversionary (per sq.m. and per RMB81.0
method month)
REWME-TE FHRAEINE f{#iHeeE ARM84ATE i
i (B¥HKREA) AR%81.07T
Long term vacancy 5% to 20% Decrease
rate
REZER 5% £20% "
Discount rate 2.5% t0 3.5% Decrease
BRE 25% Z3.5% HD

IREEEIBR IR B PR A A / 2023 FF 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #BZ2-—FE_-_=F+_-A=+—HILFE

8.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs
used in fair value measurements (Continued)

8. AREEFE(E

(c) XEBFERAKERFRAR
BEEERERNMGERNTR

WABENEKE (&)

Level 3 fair value measurements E=MAIAEEFE
Effect on
fair value
Valuation inputs for increase Fair value
Description technique Unobservable Range of inputs 2022
BABBEM
HOABE —T-_F
Bt fE B TABERHAYE #[E V%8 AERE
HK$'000
T
Investment Term and Estimated rental value ~ RMB12.4 to Increase 126,434
properties — PRC reversionary (per sgq.m. and per RMB71.5
method month)
REME-TE FHREENE HitHeeR ARE124%E il
Emx (BYAARREA) AR ST
Long term vacancy rate 5% to 20% Decrease
REFEX 5% Z20% s
Discount rate 2.5% 10 3.5% Decrease
B & 2.5% £3.5% i
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE M BHRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

9.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

In a manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the executive Directors, who are
the chief operating decision makers, the Group has
presented the following reportable segments:

(i) Sale of materials business; and
(i) Properties investment.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the executive
Directors monitor the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following
basis:

(a) Segment assets include all tangible assets and
current assets with the exception of other
unallocated head office corporate assets.

(b) Segment liabilities include all liabilities with the
exception of shareholders’ loans, loans from fellow
subsidiaries, loans from related parties, non-pledged
other borrowings and other unallocated head office
corporate liabilities.

(c) Segment results are allocated to reportable
segments with reference to sales generated, other
gains and expenses incurred, together with fair value
change of investment properties, and impairment
losses on trade and other receivables, net.

The amounts provided to the executive Directors with
respect to the information mentioned above are measured
in a manner consistent with that of the consolidated
financial statements.

BE—FE =+ _H=1—HIFE

9.

2 EHEHR

AEBAEAATES(RTEZLE
REE) NHEREHN —HZHTAZ
SIAT R 28088

(i) SHEMHES: &
(i) EREE -

RAED B2 RARE D EE 2 BIR
Dl ATEFRATEEERSA
2B EE  BENAE:

(@) DWMEEBREMBANEENR
HEE BETEREMARDELR
MEREREE -

b) NEREBEREMERE ETE
ERRER  KARZWB R
ZEF RBEEHEALZE
R EEREMEREEMARSD
FlamERbRalE -

DEERBEISEREL ZHE
Hip oz M BRI EME
RABEZSHARERE FER
Ko B At FE MR TRORR (B 5 18 % BR 1R
DETRIZ2HDE -

N

ETE ARG AN L AR S
LA SR & B A R T — B
AR E -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ2-—F-=F+_-H=+—HIFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. oEER (&)
An analysis of the Group's revenue, results, assets and AEFEAEWMOHB2AEFBRA - %
liabilities for the Group's reportable segments is as 45 %TL%&E%ZHWZIDT :
follows:

Sale of
materials Properties
business investment Total

HE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FER TR

For the year ended BZE-Z_-=F

31 December 2023 +ZRA=+-HBLEE
Revenue from external customers SNEBEP KA 530,328 , 531,504
Gross profit =5
Other gains, net H A5 e 15 49
Fair value change on investment BREMEAAEBEED

properties (28,943) (28,943)
Administrative and operating THREERY

expenses (2,245) (1,781) (4,026)
Impairment losses on trade and other  FEUUE 5 Bk 3t I H o fE 1B

receivables, net REBEFE (133) (133)
Segment results NEEE : (29,666)
Unallocated: i
Other gains, net and interest income ~ E Uz K7 BIA 1,822
Administrative and operating expenses 7B A% & F (12,778)
Profit from operations K=yl (2,764)
Finance costs BEKA (12,001)
Loss before tax bR A1 (14,765)
Income tax expense FIERAY (9,521)
Loss for the year FEBR (24,286)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MM RMEE (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ2-F_=F+_-A=+—HILFF

9.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

9. ZHEFR (&)

Sale of
materials
business
HE
HK$'000
TER

At 31 December 2023
Segment assets
Unallocated assets

78,466

Total assets

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

Total liabilities

For the year ended
31 December 2023
Capital expenditures

Sale of

materials Properties
business  investment

HE

DEES S NERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER

Properties
investment Total

HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR

224,738 303,204

1,400

304,604

(38,703) (256,933) (295,636)

(72,852)

(368,488)

Unallocated Total

Ll At
HK$'000 HK$'000
TRER TER

IREEEIBR IR B PR A A / 2023 FF 3R
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

—=F+-AS+—HULFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

#HE—F

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. oEER (&)
Sale of
materials Property
business investment Total
HE
MR %R MERE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT THT
For the year ended BE-2-—F
31 December 2022 TZRA=t-HLEE
Revenue from external customers NP 268,692 885 269,577
Gross profit EH 15,857 885 16,742
Fair value change on investment BRENMERALEEED
properties - (35,795) (35,795)
Administrative and operating expenses 1T R & &% (494) (1,409) (1,903)
Impairment losses of receivables, net ~ ERFIBREREFE (517) - (517)
Segment results NEEE 14,846 (36,319) (21,473)
Unallocated: AOEL:
Other gains, net and interest income ~ E A F U KA BIA 166
Administrative and operating expenses  {TH R &4 5% (8,104)
Impairment of intangible assets EREERE (330)
Impairment loss on loan and interest ~ JEME % JEIF B IRE B8
receivables (215,290)
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries ~ BUB I B L FE 1B (208)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERBRRKE 7,229
Loss from operations KEBE (238,010)
Finance costs BEKA (10,709)
Loss before tax bR AT (248,719)
Income tax expense FEHAX (3,685)
Loss for the year FEEBE (252,404)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ—ZF

9.

—=F+-AS+—AULFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. oEER (E)
Sale of
materials Properties
business investment Total
HE
MR ER MERE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TETL
At 31 December 2022 R-ZB-Z§+ZA=t+-H
Segment assets NEEE 132,172 261,230 393,402
Unallocated assets AABREE 723
Total assets EERE 394,125
Segment liabilities NEBE (121,033) (252,117) (373,150)
Unallocated liabilities ANEEE (61,146)
Total liabilities EREg b (434,296)
Sale of
materials Properties
business investment Unallocated Total
HE
MEER MERE ROE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAEL FTAET TBT TET
For the year ended Bz-Z-—f
31 December 2022 +ZA=+t-HILEE
Capital expenditures BARRY - - 21 21

IREEEIBR IR B PR A A / 2023 FF 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #BZ2-—FE_-_=F+_-A=+—HILFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. ZoEEFR(E)
The Group's revenue for the years ended 31 December AEEBZ-_T-_=FRk=-FT=-—

2023 and 2022 and non-current assets as at 31 December += H +—H thﬁfZHQJ\LK 5§
2023 and 2022 are further analysed by geographical —TE = RZE-F+= A
location as follows: —t+t—HZIRBEERMIBAE 2
E—TOMET
Revenue
N
For the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=+—HILEE
2023 2022
YL HK$'000
FET FAET
The PRC s 531,504 269,577
Non-current assets
ERBEE
At 31 December
R+=BA=+—8H
2023 2022
Hks000 R
FET FAET
The PRC s 94,118 126,434
Hong Kong A 21 23
126,457
Revenue individually generated from the following REUTERPHENB AL EAEER
customers contributed more than 10% of the total WA10% A k-
revenue of the Group:
2023 2022
Hks000 R
FET FAET
Sale of materials business segment & ¥ £ 5 B
Customer A ZEA 80,823 —*
Customer B ZFB 59,372 —*
Customer C BFEC 58,813 —*
Customer D =FED 54,953 —*
* The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the * AW AW KRB AEBE B AR 10%

total revenue of the Group. LA ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ—ZF

—=F+-AS+—AULFE

10. REVENUE 10. YA

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Revenue from contracts with BFEAHWMA

customers

— Sale of materials — $HEME 530,328 268,692
Rental income e A 1,176 885
Total revenue @I A 531,504 269,577

All revenue from contracts with customers are recognised
at a point in time.

Sales of materials

The Group sells building materials (2022: building
materials, aluminum related products and scrapped
copper) to its customers. Sales are recognised when
control of the products has transferred, being when the
products are delivered to a customer, there is no
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products and the customer has
obtained legal titles to the products.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms
of 30 to 90 days (2022: 30 to 90 days). For new
customers, deposits or cash on delivery may be required.

A receivable is recognised when the products are
delivered to the customers as this is the point in time that
the consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is due.

AT &P & A WA 1 3 — 5 8 B FE

7J
s °©

HEMH

AEEMEPHEREMB (ZF
::$ EEME - REEE R ME
i) - FEMMESEDEE (BER
RISFEP2F)  BEIENRETE
XEEFEXEMNABTEAREFRE
BEEEMNEEFTBER - HRHEE -

AEFPZHE—REEHMR/I0ED
El(_7__¢ 30ZE90H) ° Bt
BEPME  AlREERRE R BRI

ERREREMRIN T EPRER

AR —ZIFE - Rz 2 B EEE
BRI A - BUER B R A BRI -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #BZ2-—FE_-_=F+_-A=+—HILFE

11. OTHER GAINS, NET 11.
2023 2022
—E-= = S—
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Gain on discount of other borrowings  H t B3k BLIR Wk 35 (A1 72 26(1))

(Note 26(i) _
Sundry income HIBBUWA 44
Government subsidy (note) BT R (B aE) 120

164
Note: For the year ended 31 December 2022, the government subsidy of Met - BE-_T-_—_F+-A=+—BILFE "
approximately HK$120,000 represented grants obtained from ER AT #5849 120,000 B LB R BB R @ R
Employment Support Scheme ( “ESS”) under the Anti-epidemic JFETE R 2 R EEe N 2R EE
Fund launched by the Hong Kong SAR Government supporting the B ([RAMEFEDESOEEY  UIZH
payroll of the Group’s employees. Under the ESS, the Group had to AEBLFEEBHM - RIBRLEFE -
commit to spend these grants on payroll expenses, and not reduce AEBERARZSHEDARIFE
employee head count below prescribed levels for a specified Y EENEATEBEB AR
period of time. The Group does not have unfulfilled obligations EERARBEKRTE - REBIWEBBEET
relating to this program. B2 RBITEME-
12. INTEREST INCOME 12. FEWA
2023 2022
—®== —E-—
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Bank interest income HRITH BUA m—Z
13. FINANCE COSTS 13.
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Interest expenses on: NTEEBEHFEME
— Other borrowings — HMER 10,374
— Shareholders’ loans —REER 90
— Loans from fellow subsidiaries — REBRZRMBARZ
=EN 245
— Loans from related parties —REBBEEALTZER -
Unwinding of discount on other R RR Ho A & FRELER
borrowings _
10,709
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ2-F_=F+_-A=+—HILFF

14.

LOSS BEFORE TAX

14.

The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting) the following:

BRI S 1R

AEBZBBRAEBRENERGEA)

THI&E -

2023
—E=-=

HK$°000

TET

Auditor’'s remuneration

— Audit services

— Non-audit services

Cost of inventories sold

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Exchange loss/(gain), net

Impairment losses on:

— Trade receivables

— Other receivables

— Loan and interest receivables

— Intangible assets

Staff costs (including directors’
emoluments)
— Salaries, allowances and
other benefits
— Retirement benefit scheme
contributions
— Social insurance

Gl

— ZBURTE

— JFRBURTS
EHFERA

ME - BERREITE

PE S E1E, (Was) B8
AT &IENRERE
— RUWE SRR
— HE b FEU IR

— RWE SRR ERA S

—BVEE

BIRAN(BREEME)

— e R MEAMERN

— BRAREHFTE R

— HERR

1,180
880
490,259

2022
i —

— =

HK$'000
THET

1,150
330
252,835

6
(3,554)

517

215,290
330

5,002

90
120

5,212
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ—ZF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

—=F+-AS+—HULFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 15. FTEHIRX
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current income tax BVHAFT 1S5
— Hong Kong Profit Tax — BANEH -
— The PRC Enterprise Income Tax — B EFTISR 3,887
3,887
Over-provision of prior years BEFEBERE
— Hong Kong Profit Tax — BAENEH (198)
— The PRC Enterprise Income Tax ~ — R EFRER (4)
(202)
3,685

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong for the year, except for one group
entity operating in Hong Kong which is a qualifying
corporate under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime. For
the qualifying group entity, the first HK$2 million of
assessable profits are taxed at the rate of 8.25% (2022:
8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at
the rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%).

Enterprise Income Tax has been provided at a rate of 25%
for subsidiaries in the PRC on its assessable profits during
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

EBFBHRIIRAFEREBEED
et ERBE M IEF E165% (=ZF

1 16.5% ) FHRE M - ME—RER
%C\%%«%E’J%@aﬁmﬁﬂ SO AEG
MAEBIRTERIN REEREEE
Bhms ERBEEFOE2EEET
B EG25% (Z T - 4 :8.25%)
BR M TEEREABIERH =X
16.5% (Z B = —4 : 16.5% ) &iHi °

HE_ZT-_=Fk-_FT__F+-A1
=+—BHLEFE HEMBRRZE
EREH T HERP S MR X
25% AT IR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ2-F_=F+_-A=+—HILFF

15. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 15. FriSHR X (&)
Reconciliation between income tax expense and FriefifAs MgERAMETEN S
accounting loss at applicable tax rate is as follows: EEEERNT -
2023 2022
—E-=£F —=E—-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Loss before tax B A5 Al B 18 (14,765) (248,719)
Tax calculated at the domestic REBBEANFEHRRE
income tax rate in the respective FTE A
countries (61,952)
Tax effect of: ATIEE 2 MB 2 -
— income not subject to tax and — BARBIA KA
expenses not deductible RS2 62,982
— tax losses not recognised — RERBIEEE 2,857
— over-provision in prior years — BAFEREEE (202)
Income tax expense FrisBim 3,685
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of AREETENAEERNS EEAARNK
unrecognised tax losses due to the unpredictability of i F) SRR Eﬁlj’[,ﬂﬁdﬁfﬁﬁﬁwﬁﬁlﬁlﬁﬂé
future profits streams from respective entities within the BREEHNEEE R_T_=%F
Group. As at 31 December 2023, the unrecognised tax TZA=T—H  KRERIRIEBFEY
losses to be carried forward against future taxable income A5 6 B BB L (Z T4 : 4675
amounted to approximately HK$455.6 million (2022: BEBIT) Al AEAREHARKER
HK$467.5 million). Tax losses amounting to approximately WA - ©REHI718EBBL(ZZ
HK$371.8 million (2022: HK$383.7 million) will expire at — 4 :3837EBET) Eﬁ%lﬁféﬂ%
various dates up to and including year of 2028 (2022: i’l—rb"\ﬁ ZEWRE_ZT-NF (=
2027), the remaining tax losses of approximately HK$83.8 -_= ZEZEF)NEEAR HﬂJ:'
million (2022: HK$83.8 million) have no expiry date. e TIJ%%RIEJ%%E #e38E@EBIT(Z

T4 :838FEET) ERHH -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #BZ2-—FE_-_=F+_-A=+—HILFE
16. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: nil).

16. BE

SWEgESE—E-—=F+-_A=+—
HIEFERNSEREMES (ZF

TTFE) e
17. LOSS PER SHARE 17. EREE
(a) Basic (a) ER

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to the owners of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

The calculation of the basic loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based
on the following data:

RRBEE NEGEE
(T87T)

Loss attributable to the owners
of the Company (HK$°000)

BE#RITE BB INEF AR
(TH)

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue
(thousand shares)

(b) Diluted (b)
For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per
share as there was no potential dilutive ordinary

shares in existence.

136
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ2-F_=F+_-A=+—HILFF

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. Y% - BMERRE
Computer
Leasehold equipment Office
improvement  and software equipment Total
HEME ERRER
£ B WAERE #ct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL TET FET FET
COST: A
At 1 January 2022 RZE-—F—f—H 495 83 203 781
Addition HE - - 21 21
Written-off HsA (495) - (32) (527)
Exchange difference ERER - - (8) (8)
At 31 December 2022 and RZB-Z#+-A=+—-H
1 January 2023 RZE-=5-H—H
Exchange difference EHER
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Z&HERRFE :
AND IMPAIRMENT:
At 1 January 2022 R-E--F—f—H - 83 160 243
Charge for the year FREH - - 6 6
Exchange difference EXER - - (5) (5)

At 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023

Charge for the year

Exchange difference

_2::¢+ A=+-H
—F—-f-H

At 31 December 2023

NET CARRYING AMOUNT:
At 31 December 2023

&m%m
B3z . . ) (1)
BEEE:

RZE-=F+-f=+-H

At 31 December 2022

RZE--%+-A=+—H - - 23 2

IREEEIBR IR B PR A A / 2023 FF 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z—

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

—=F+-AS+—HULFE

19. REWE

2023 2022
:E:E - —

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET

At fair value BAREE
At 1 January Kn—H—H8 126,434 172,528
Change in fair value NAEEEY (28,943) (35,795)
Exchange difference & & =% (3,373) (10,299)
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 94,118 126,434

The estimated aggregate fair value of investment
properties as at 31 December 2023 was approximately

REYWEBFAABEEENR-Z
—_$+—H_+—EU%%1§%

HK$94.1 million (2022: HK$126.4 million), which has been BT (ZEZ=F:126488HF7T) -
arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by RHL %Fﬁ4§%1ﬁfﬁﬁﬂiﬂ<f'J TR {EREM
Appraisal Limited, an independent professional valuer. BERDGHETHEEMSL °
Note: et -
(a)  Amounts recognised in profit or loss for investment properties (a) HREVENBEBRIZLE
Rental income of approximately HK$1,176,000 (2022: HK$885,000) BE_Z_=ZF+_A=+—HLHFE "
was recognised in profit or loss for investment properties during HREMENREZBRERE WAL
the year ended 31 December 2023. 1,176,000 7T (:§ZZ¢ : 885,000
TT) e
(b)  Non-current assets pledged as security (b) ERBEESEFERR
As at 31 December 2023, the investment properties of RZZE=Z=F+=ZA=+—H 8£ED
approximately HK$94.1 million (2022: HK$126.4 million) were ENUMNEEBT(ZE__F:1264
pledged for other borrowings (note 26(ii)). AEAL) BEMA LM%HXﬁf’ﬂg (M5
26(ii)) °
(¢)  Minimum lease receipts () EWHRERAS

Certain of the investment properties located in Yingkou City,
Liaoning province, the PRC, are leased to tenants under long- term
operating leases ranging from 1 to 8 years. Management intends
to lease the remaining investment properties to earn rental income.

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had future aggregate
minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable operating leases as
follows:

MRPEREELEOMMNE TIREME
DRERBEEEEHETHES  HE
HNF—2 \F - B8 EREERNRK
EWE - REEHESWA -

RZBZ =R Z_F+=ZA=1+—
B AEBERTATHELEHEE T KR
R ARREM SRS @EHIINT

2023
—==-=

HK$’000

FEx

2022

T —F
HK$'000
FHET

Less than one year
More than one year but less than five years
More than five years

—ER
—FHERER
hFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

20. SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Group as at 31
December 2023 are as follows:

BE—FE =+ _H=1—HIFE

20. B AAE

RZB-_=ZFf+-_A=1+—H8 A&
B EIEMBRARIZFHBNT :

Percentage of

Place of Particulars of equity attributable Principal activities and
Name incorporation paid up capital to the Company place of operation
18 o AR 32 AN T R4S
FriEit BEREER EREDL FTEEBRKSE BB
Direct Indirect
B iE:3
Enviro Energy Management Hong Kong HK$1 100 - Investment holding in
Services Limited B 18T Hong Kong
REEBRBEERDF REBREER
Huan Neng International Trading PRC RMB8 million - 100  Properties investment in
(Yingkou) Company Limited A AREESHETT the PRC
("HNYK")* RPBETYERE
REBBRE S (E0)BRAA
(MReegn))
Liaoning Taogibao Mall Management PRC RMB100 million - 100  Properties investment in
Co. Ltd. ("Liaoning Taoqgibao")* i AREI100EE T the PRC
BEERRERNERER AT R BETYERE
(MEREBRE])
Huan Neng Industrial (Yingkou) PRC RMB8 million - 100  Properties investment in
Company Limited (“HN Industrial")* 5 (Not yet paid up) the PRC
REBEE(EO)BRAA ARKESEHETT RPBRETYERE
(MRee|%E)) (MR
Shenzhen Jun Heng Trading Company  PRC HK$10 million - 100  Trading of scrapped copper
Limited (“SZ Jun Heng")* F 10EEST in the PRC
RYNE BB SERAR (CRINEAE]D) B E & RE
Pentart Resource Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 —  Trading of scrapped copper
B ERER A A BB 187T in Hong Kong
Hangzhou Junheng Building Materials ~ PRC HK$500 million - 60  Trading of building
Company Limited (“Junheng i AR¥B00EETT materials in the PRC
Building Materials")* PP REBEEMR
MR G M BBR A R) (TREEM])
Hubei Junheng Trading Co., Ltd.* PRC HK$100 million - 100  Trading of building
MR EE S ER AR H Bl ARBEI100BETT materials in the PRC
R EEEZEME
* All the PRC-incorporated subsidiaries are limited liability companies. * FERTEIAMKIOMBARNYAE

The English names of certain subsidiaries represent the best effort
by the Group’s management to translate their Chinese names, as
these subsidiaries do not have official English names.

BRELAA - ETHERARNEXLRE
RASHEREERASNBEEDX

I
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #BZ2-—FE_-_=F+_-A=+—HILFE

20. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 20. i T (&)

The following table shows the summarised financial TRET— Fﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁ;gi
information of a subsidiary that has non-controlling ﬁﬁ'ﬁﬁ feigss ([FEIERBER ) MM
interests ( “NCI”) that material to the Group. The below NAABERRE - L TFER AR
information is the amounts before inter-company ﬁﬁ?ﬁ‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ’\]ﬁgﬁ °

eliminations.

Junheng Building Materials

e 17 22 1
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Principal place of business and FEL MR RAMK The PRC The PRC

country of incorporation EX =] =8

140

% of ownership interests/voting rights FrE R B D th,~ 40%/40% 40%/40%

held by NCI EERERANIRERE
At 31 December: BR+=—RA=+—8:
Summarised assets and liabilites ZEERSEHE
Non-current assets EMBEE - -
Current assets M EE 91,878 117,332
Non-current liabilities ERBEE - -
Current liabilities UEIR=NE (52,388) (106,061)
Net assets BEESE 39,490 11,271
Accumulated NCI ZEH IR 4,508
Year/period ended 31 December: #HZE+_-_B=+—HILFE

e il

Summarised financial results MEEERE
Revenue WA 528,876 176,663
Profit for the year/period FE/HR ST 28,660 11,560
Other Comprehensive loss Hib 2 HEEE (440) (290)
Total comprehensive income zﬁﬂiﬁ?’l B3R 28,220 11,220
Profit allocated to NCI 7P E FEIE AR = Y 5 A 11,464 4,624
Dividend paid to NCI §ZH% R ERAR S - -
Summarised cash flows HEREHE
Net cash generated from operating & /EZFTFIR € 5

activities 7,482
Net cash generated from investing WEEZHFREFEE

activities 1
Net increase in cash and cash Be MRS EEYILNFEE

equivalents 7,483
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ2-F_=F+_-A=+—HILFF

21.

22.

INVENTORIES

21. B8
2023 2022
—_E_= —_E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FATT

Merchandise — Construction
materials

B — ERME

20,226

TRADE RECEIVABLES

22. BWE 5 RN

Trade receivables
Less: Provision for impairment loss

Trade receivables, net

2023 2022
—E_= —_=E-
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
BUE ZEER 34,389 106,929
R E RS 1 B (6,058) (6,198)
BUE FEEFFEE 100,731

The Group's credit terms to trade debtors range generally
from 30 to 90 days (2022: 30 to 90 days).

ARBETESEBANGEEH K
M F30HEQH(ZF =4 :30H
FR)MNE -

IREEEIBR IR B PR A A / 2023 FF 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& & M B RME (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #BZ2-—FE_-_=F+_-A=+—HILFE

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22. EWRE S RN (&)

RBEHR REZZAHMZEKE
DIRRZIREE DTN T

The ageing analysis of trade receivables as at the end of
reporting period, based on invoice date, is as follows:

2023 2022

—E-= -
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Within 30 days 308 67,823
31-60 days 31THZ60H -
61-90 days 61HZ90H 31,008
91-120 days 91THZE120H -
121-365 days 121HZE365H -
Over 365 days 365 B A = 1,900
100,731

EWEZRFEBREE EBIT

Movements of loss allowance for trade receivables are as

follows:
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
At 1 January Rn—H—H 20,920
Increase in loss allowance for the year 4 X /&5 18 £ & 12 1 517
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAF (14,886)
Exchange differences bE =58 (353)
At 31 December R+—A=+—H 6,198
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

BE—FE =+ _H=1—HIFE

22. BWE 5 RN (&)

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9
to provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime
expected loss provision for all trade receivables. To
measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit
losses also incorporate forward looking information.

AEBEERBEEYH RS EMNFE IR
BTN 2B EZRBREEBEEL
B HAARYEESRKEMA LS
BHIEHER - KFFERMEEER
EKE ZERERBEAREERRE
BRBHMBEEY R BREEEET
BERIEEER -

1-30days 31-60days 61-90 days Over 365 days
Current past due past due past due past due Total
GIE ali fald ol it
12308 31Z60H 612908 #iB365H h
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TER TER Thn Thn ThRL
At 31 December 2023 RZFZ=F+ZA=1-H
Weighted average expected nETHBEHEEE
loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 18%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) FEYFE(TEL) 16,365 2,179 6,059 3,728 6,058 34,389
Loss allowance (HK$'000) ERAE(TET) - - - - (6,058)  (6,058)
At 31 December 2022 R-E-—F+-f=1-H
Weighted average expected nETHBEHEEE
loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 77% 6%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) FEYsE(TET) 98,831 - - - 8,098 106,929
Loss allowance (HK$'000) EREE(TET) - - - - (6,199) (6,199)

IREEEIBR IR B PR A A / 2023 FF 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& & M B RME (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #BZ2-—FE_-_=F+_-A=+—HILFE

23. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 23. ¢ FEAREREMERIE
RECEIVABLES
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Deposits Ee 36
Prepayments for purchase of BEREMB 2 TENRIA
building materials 1,612
Other receivables H b & YRR 5,245
Less: loss allowance of W B b FE U RIR
other receivables B S B R R (3,459)
Consideration receivable from disposal HE DA IELEEE
of assets classified as held for sale U (B 48,589
Less: loss allowance of consideration J& : HE D FE AR IEHE
receivable from disposal of assets BERKAKE
classified as held for sale ET B (782)
Consideration receivable from disposal H &% & ¥ % e W £ B
of investment properties 86,959
Less: loss allowance of consideration Ji @ H &R E ¥ ¥ E U
receivable from disposal of REBERE
investment properties (667)
Other tax receivables H b fE UL T IR 1,035
137,878 138,568

1 44 ENVIRO ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ2-F_=F+_-A=+—HILFF

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

24. BENEZRAREMENRE

Trade payables (note(i))

Other payables

Received in advance

Interest payable

Accrued liabilities

2023
HK$Goo

FHT

ENE SRR (HE6) 30,976
Hth i FO0E 48,598
B TE 715
FE 7B 21,500
Estas 13,770

Note:

(i)

The amounts are repayable according to normal credit terms of 30
to 60 days (2022: 30 to 60 days).

The ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of reporting
period, based on invoice date, is as follows:

it -

0] BRERERE - REEHIOBER (=

2022

HK$'000
THETT

112,504
50,767
2,998
10,114
12,887

189,270

T4 :30HE60R)EE-

REBERR RERREAHZENES
R ZRERDITAAT

2023
—EB_=F
HK$'000
FTHET

Within 30 days
30-60 days
61-90 days
91-120 days
121-365 days
Over 365 Days

30ER
30H%£60H
61HZ90H
91THZ120H

121 H%E365H

365 HIA L

2022
=

=

HK$'000
THET

112,504

IREEEIBR IR B PR A A / 2023 FF 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #BZ2-—FE_-_=F+_-A=+—HILFE

25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 25. EHEE
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the balances RZEZ=FR_F__F+=ZA
represent the receipt in advance from customers in sale of =+—H ZEEBKBREEMEE
material business. The Group recognised the following BEBEFPHRIE KEBEERUT
revenue-related contract liabilities: HIRABTBENEHARE -
2023 2022
—E-= I =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Contract liabilities BHEE m——
Contract liabilities for sales of goods contract have EmEESANEGNAEREEESL
increased by approximately HK$5.8 million due to a SEBIEINMIE ML 58 EEBIT °

increase in overall contract activities.

Year ended 31 December 2023 2022
HE+-_A=1t—HIFE —E-= -z
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Revenue recognised that was FUHREFTAGHEE
included in the contract liabilities AR

balance as at beginning of the year

Due to the short-term nature of the related service BHREBEBERBEONEHEE £X
contracts, the entire contract liabilities balance at the year HBEHNEEEHRBER T —HEER
end would be recognised into revenue in the next period. BUWA - ER B EHRELERIFE 1558
As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price AFRNBAT  DEEREHHRA
allocated to those unsatisfied contracts which have an —FHUATHZERBITEONRS
original expected duration of one year or less is not BRI THER -

disclosed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ2-F_=F+_-A=+—HILFF

26. OTHER BORROWINGS 26. HMERM
2023 2022
—ZF-= S —
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER Fx
Non-current FERE
Other borrowings — unsecured H i & 5k — & K 1 (Note (i) -
(KraE)
Current mE
Other borrowings — secured ~ E &z — A& i# (Note (ii) 196,682 202,287
(K&t (i)

Note: Btat -

(i) In September 2023, the Company and an independent third party (i) RZEZ=FNA ARREBIE=
entered into a loan facility agreement, pursuant to which the FRIVEXRBERE Bt BuF=
independent third party agreed to grant a maximum loan amount of FREAARABREGEERSEAR
RMB10 million to the Company, which is interest-free, unsecured BI0BEB T ZERARE  BERAK
and repayable in December 2026. As at 31 December 2023, the BERZZE_R"F+-AEE-R=F
Company has drawn down the loan amount of RMB5.0 million Z=F+ZA=1+—H KAQFBIREM
(equivalent to approximately HK$5.59 million). BEReBEARKES.0EET GEERL5.59

BEAT) -
At the date of initial recognition of the drawdown loan, the RERDNERNYV P HRABE EER
Directors determined that, based on the applicable prevailing FRBEBNRITMSMEL12.1%
market interest rate of approximately 12.1%, the fair value of the AECERDERMALEBELNAS3S
drawdown loan amounted to approximately HK$3.81 million and a AEEAT UYREE-T-_=F+=A
one-off gain on discount of approximately HK$1.55 million was =t -HLEFEEGEERER XM
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss for the year ended 31 BRIR RS A1 B A BB T ©
December 2023.
The carrying amount of the entire loan was classified as non- BRMERER=-Z=-=F+=A
current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position _+ El NERAMBRAERS B REIER
as at 31 December 2023. Pam-

BEERERERAT /202358 |47/
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ_—Z

26. OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(ii)

The other borrowings are dominated in RMB and are secured by
the Group's investment properties, which have a carrying amount
of approximately HK$94.1 million as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$126.4 million).

Prior to March 2020, the Group's subsidiaries, namely HNYK and
Liaoning Taogibao, had certain loans and accrued interests with a
bank in the PRC (the “Bank”). In March 2020, the Bank assigned
the entire rights to the loans and relevant accrued interests owed
by HNYK and Liaoning Taogibao at an aggregate consideration of
approximately RMB166.6 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$182.4 million) (the “Debt Receivables A") to an independent
third party (the “Lender A”). Subsequently, in August 2020, Lender
A assigned the entire rights to the Debt Receivables A at an
aggregate consideration of approximately RMB176.8 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$216.3 million) to another
independent third party (the “Lender B"). The Group then entered
into a loan agreement with the Lender B of approximately
RMB176.8 million (equivalent to approximately HK$210.0 million)
for a period of three years at a fixed rate of 5% per annum, with
interest payable annually. In June 2021, the Lender B and the
Group entered into an interest waiver agreement, pursuant to
which the Lender B agreed to waive the right to collect interest on
other borrowings from 18 August 2020 to 31 December 2021,
resulting in a gain on waiver of interest of other borrowings of
approximately HK$8.7 million during the year ended 31 December
2021.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group was indebted to Lender B
totalling approximately RMB176.8 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$216.3 million).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group received a
civil judgment dated 9 June 2022 pursuant to which the Bank
claimed against Lender A, HNYK, Liaoning Taogibao and other
defendants for the repayment of outstanding loans and interests
due to defaulting on the loan agreements between the Bank and
Lender A (the “Dispute Loan Agreements”) in March 2022.
According to the civil judgement, it was adjudged that other
defendants, being the financial guarantors under the Dispute Loan
Agreements, as well as HNYK and Liaoning Taogibao are obliged to
repay the relevant outstanding loans and interests upon Lender A
defaulting on the Dispute Loan Agreements due to the fact that
Lender A pledged the rights to Debt Receivables A to the Bank for
the Dispute Loan Agreements.

As advised by the Company’'s PRC legal advisor, HNYK and
Liaoning Taogibao shall prioritise repaying the Bank with the
outstanding loans and interests in accordance with the civil
judgement, and any remaining amount after the aforesaid
repayment shall be repaid to Lender B in accordance with the loan
agreement with the Lender B. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the maximum obligation that the Group may be indebted to the
Bank under the civil judgement amounted to approximately
RMB251.3 million (equivalent to approximately HK$279.5 million)
(2022: RMB233.2 million, equivalent to approximately HK$266.8
million).

—=F+-AS+—HULFE

26.

Hitb &R

it -

(ii)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ2-F_=F+_-A=+—HILFF

26. OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 26. HtEX (&)

Note: (Continued) Hiat - (4&)

(i) (Continued) i (&
In the opinion of the Directors, the Group is not necessary to repay BEERE BWOARRRBEEEBEBAT
the relevant outstanding loans and interests because, as advised EMH - BRAAREAMHEE AEREERE
by the Company's PRC legal advisor, Lender A and other FIEFERELE O RESZTARE ZA
defendants have priority over HNYK and Liaoning Taogibao for the ASEEBEEEHEBREEERR
repayment obligations, and therefore no additional provision of FE  WEERREHRFIREINEE
approximately HK$61.3 million, being the difference between the We13EBEE T MLilsge&iXs5E
amount of the maximum obligation above and the carrying HMEMERREMSTEEAE HANE
amounts of other borrowings and interest payables, should be FeRMm BEEARSEEE  RNEEEE
provided concerning the civil judgement. However, up to the date T E B RAARE 35 A B E KR
of this report, the Group is not able to ascertain the repayment RFERBTERETNYIEE S - EF
status of Lender A and other defendants nor their financial abilities REBHAHAEBGEMBREELEN
to fulfil the repayment obligations, which led to uncertainties on BERMBEEFTERETEN -

the extent and financial impact arising from the civil judgement on
the Group's consolidated financial statement.

27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. BR7R
Ordinary shares
Number of  of par value of
shares HK$0.05 each
SREE
0.05/8 T2
KRB #E EERA
‘000 HK$'000
Tk FAT
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, W-ZE-—F-A—-0-
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 “E--F+ZA=+—H"
“E=5-A-Bk
—T_=Ft-A=+—H 1,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
At 1 January 2022 ,31 December 2022, R-ZE-—%—A—H"
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 —E--F+-fF=+—H"
—E=5-A-8Bk
“E-=H+-A=+—H 542,392 27,120
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #BZ2-—FE_-_=F+_-A=+—HILFE

28. CASH FLOW INFORMATION — FINANCING . BeREEN —RETED

ACTIVITIES

This section sets out the movement of liabilities from AEHFINBE_ T _=FR=_FT=-—
financing activities for the years ended 31 December 2023 FH+-A=T—HIEFEXREMEE
and 2022. Hado#H-o

Liabilities from financing activities
REMERD AR
Amountdue  Loansfrom  Loansfrom
Shareholders'’  to afellow fellow related Interest Other
loans  subsidiary  subsidiaries parties payable  borrowings Total

EREZ RARZME RAAEE
RRER WEAARE LHER  AfzER EARE  EHER Eh
HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
TER TR TER TEn TEn TEn Fén

Asat 1 January 2022 RZE--%-F-H 10,184 168 20,234 - - 216,324 246910
Net cash inflowsfloutflows) RERA/ ()58 27,850 - (20479) - - - 737
Non-cash movements ESEN L)
— debt restructuring agreement to —RZNBLAARKERRS
afellow subsidiary (Note 37 (Wit31) (28,139) - 28139 - - - -
— interest charged —f8&8 90 - 245 - 10374 - 10,709
— exchange difference —ERER 1 (54) - - (260) (14,037) (14,350)
As at 31 December 2022 and RZZ-=F+-f=1-8Ek
1 January 2023 “%-z%-f-H ] ] ) 202,287
Net cash inflows/{outflows) BeRA/(Ri) 58 Y (114) ’ ] ! 12,074
Non-cash movements FR2EY
— interest charged —flEEE 11,719 140 12,001
— gain on discount of other borrowings —EH ARSI - (1,554) (1,554)
— exchange difference —ERER (333) (5,830) (6,163)
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=E+Zf=1-H , - 29,570 3887 21,500 200,631 266,998
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE M BHRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(a)

On 12 May 2011, share option schemes ( “2011
Share Option Scheme”) were approved and
adopted pursuant to resolutions of the Company.
The purpose of the 2011 Share Option Scheme was
to enable the Group to recognise the contribution of
the participants to the Group and to motivate the
participants to continue working for the benefit of
the Group by offering the participants an opportunity
to have personal interest in the share capital of the
Company. The Board may, at its discretion, grant
share options to any employees, consultants and
advisers of the Company or its subsidiaries, including
executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive directors, to subscribe for shares of
the Company. The 2011 Share Option Scheme
remain in force for a period of ten years with effect
from 12 May 2011.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which
share options may be granted under the 2011 Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Company may not exceed 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company, or may not exceed a
maximum of 30% should the shareholders of the
Company renew the 10% limit, from time to time
which have been duly allotted and issued.

The exercise price for shares under the 2011 Share
Option Scheme may be determined by the Board at
its absolute discretion but in any event will be at
least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a
business day; (i) the average of the closing prices of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the
relevant option; and (iii) the nominal value of the
shares on the date of grant of the option.

BE—FE =+ _H=1—HIFE

29.

(a)

BB R

ARABR-_EBE——FHA+_-_BBE
AR BIR 5 B A R AN S A A &
([ZEB——FBREHNE]) - —F
—— FEREFENENRBBAT
ZEE P AR B RATEE EAEZED
e FAEEESTREEHASE
BIFIEEMER U E2EEES
AREBONER N -BEESUBIS
ARERHEREFAQRAKEWBEA
FEMES BRI RFZAER 2
1T IERIT R IERITES - A
RERQARGD - —B——FHIE
HEE-—T——&ERA T -_HE+E
NE R -

BRIEZT—— FHREE AR F
E{A] B i BB R M 5T 21 AT BE I HE D BB AR
EHERZBHEE RZTEBBAR
AN IER AL 3 R BITHE BITIRA
B110% @ AR B REEFT10% 5
Rl Bl&xZ T A BB 30% °

—E - FRRE A TROITE
BRREFT2RNBRE  BRME
AERTRDEARATHESE ()
BREBEM(WAREXR)BXMER
WRAEO RO Y E - () BERH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ—ZF —

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

Any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder of the Company or an independent
non-executive director or any of their respective
associates, representing in aggregate over 0.1% of
the shares of the Company in issue on the date of
such grant and an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the shares of the Company at the
date of grant in excess of HK$5 million, in any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting. In addition,
any share options granted to any one person in
excess of 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any time, in any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

The share options granted may be exercised at any
time or times during a period to be determined and
notified by the Board which period of time shall
commence after the date of grant of the share
options and expire on such date as determined by
the Board in any event no later than 10 years from
the date of the grant of such share options. A
nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on
acceptance of the grant of a share option under the
2011 Share Option Scheme.

SEFZAS+—AILFEE

. BRERTE (&)

(a)

ENVIRO ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

(#&)

PAER+ @A ERE - EFEERT
RABEERRIBILIENITE
EREAEESEZHEALTHN
B W ERERE AR
BREADNREETRM0.1% X
ERIEE B BARRRMDWTE
SEAEBBSEES T Y
BEERBRERG HORRER
A o BEAN - RAEAR A+ = {E A HARS
BFP I ATBBAR AT
B 1T 1% & 1T A B8 AR
1 NBEIERIRERSHECK
RS R AL AE ©

EREWBRETNRESTERTE
KB B B R 1T(E - 8
IR BB A B & e - I
REFERENBEHER WL
BRI SERE LB EE
PREE BT F-REZ
—— RS BAREN
BREAXMIBTERRERN
R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2—F

—=F+-AS+—AULFE

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

. BRERTE (&)

(o) Movements in the number of share options b) REBEE-_ZT-_=FKR-_FT_—
outstanding and their weighted average exercise FTZA=+—BHIFE " MR1T
prices for the years ended 31 December 2023 and FRERESE RENEFIITE
2022 are as follows: B2EHWT :

Weighted
average
exercise price  Outstanding
(per share) options
g
TEE e RATHE
(BR) R
HK$
BT
As at 1 January 2022 R-ZE-—F—HF—H 2.29 53,209
Lapsed RN 2.29 (53,209)
As at 31 December 2022, R_E-_—F+=H
1 January 2023 and =t+—HB -ZF==F
31 December 2023 —A—BERZZT=_=F
+ZA=+—H - -
Details of the share options movement during the REBEE-_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—
year ended 31 December 2022 are as follows: HIEFECBREZESFENT
Outstanding Outstanding
options as at Lapsed options as at
Exercise price 1 January during 31 December
(per share) 2022 the year 2022
RZB-Z% R=B=-Z%
-R-H +=B=1-H
TEE WERTE i R1TE
(BR) BRE EFrEiN EhRe
HK$
Expiry dates 3I#A BT
30 December 2022 (note 1) “E__Et-A=TRWH) 2.29 53,209 (53,209) -
Notes: Hiet -
1. Regarding the share options granted on 23 June 2011 and 1. MR E——FEXA-+=ZHK

31 December 2012, 50% of which shall be exercised in a
period commencing one year from the date of grant and
expiring on the date falling one day preceding the tenth
anniversary from the date of grant. The balance of 50% of
the share options shall be exercised in a period commencing
two years from the date of grant and expiring on the date
falling one day preceding the tenth anniversary from the

date of grant.

—E-—F+ZA=+—8EH
ZEREMS  EF50%HRE
HH R —F &0 T I
PR BT E B E R —

fE M o F#4250% B8 AR i R 1R
BHRRFMER FTE - REZ
L HHRAETBFEA—BER -

IREEEIBR IR B PR A A / 2023 FF 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ—ZF —

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, there was no share-based payment expense in
relation to share options granted to employees and
non-employees of the Group.

The fair value of the services received by the Group
is measured by the reference to the fair value of the
share options granted as consideration because the
fair value of the services cannot be measured
reliably.

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Company had
no share options outstanding under the Share Option
Schemes. Share options do not confer rights on the
holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’
meetings.

30. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE

The Group enrolled all Hong Kong employees in the
Mandatory Provident Fund ( “MPF”) Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group under the control of trustees. The
retirement benefit cost for the MPF Scheme charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents contributions paid to the fund by the
Group at rates specified in the rules of the MPF
Scheme.

The total cost charged to consolidated statement of
profit or loss of approximately HK$91,000 (2022:
HK$90,000) represents contributions paid to these
schemes by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2023.

The Group contributed to certain retirement benefit
schemes based on the wages for the year of those
employees in the PRC. The total cost charged to
consolidated statement of profit or loss of
approximately HK$357,000 (2022: HK$120,000)
represented the social insurance expenses paid in
the PRC by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2023.

SEFZAS+—AILFEE

. BRERTE (&)

(b)
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(&)

REBEE-_ZE_=FR-_F -
+-—A=+—HILFE HEa
BY¥AEEEEBMIIEREZER
EHEBZBOAFRAX -

HRIRFS 2 At BEEAR i
ATE MAKREERH 2R
RABEDZEE/RERLZ
BREZANEEE-

R-FZ=FR-F-__F+=
A=Z+—8  AREERETE
AT I 1 RIT R 2 BB A HE -
PR B T 158 AR S 3K
RERAGREZHEHM e

30. EERMMAX

AEBERMATEREZHE
wERES ([BEE ) T8 - %
Eertilz EERAKEZEA
Pzl c BEDRRE - REE
Ba R AR 2 RIS ETEIRIK
BAKAEAREEIZ R B S5 3
RAEEZ L REMEE XN Z

T/TJ\

REEEEBERMNMB Z LKA
4991,0008 L (ZE = —F :
90,000/ 7T) * N AREERNEE
B =F+-A=+—HIF
EERZEFTE S F 2 HRK -

$%lmﬁ¢lﬁhm¢ LA
?ﬁ%mﬂ+ﬂ1m i =i
= R HBR 2 8K AR %) 357,000 %8
7T (ZZF = =4 : 120,000 7T)
EAEBREE T _=F+—
A=Z+—RLFERFEENZ
HERERAY -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ-ZF —=

30. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (Continued)

(b)

Five highest paid individuals

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Three
(2022: three) of the five individuals with the highest
emoluments in the Group were directors of the
Company, whose emolument are disclosed in note
36.

Details of the emoluments of the other two
(2022:two) individual for the year ended 31

F+=A=+—HIFE

30. EE®EAIF X ()

(b)

AfUBSHEMAL

Eii& ¢%%%%ﬁ@ﬁa@£
FAEHR =R (T
ZER)ATRAARARESE - HB
SRMITEI6HE -

BE-_E-_-HKR-_F-_—
+-A=+—HILFEE HFW

December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

THEMT

2023
o=

—_—

HK$'000
FERT

Salaries, allowances and e R R EAMAEF
other benefits
Retirement benefit scheme

contributions

RARARHFT B R

B F LA T 485

The emoluments were within the following bands:

2023
—_E_=F

Number of

employees

BEAH

Nil to HK$1 million ZE1EEST

H(ZEBEZZF  WEB) ATHN

2022
o —

—_<——

HK$'000
THETT

993

36

1,029

2022
—a— —

Number of
employees

BE A

IREEEIBR IR B PR A A / 2023 FF 3R

165



156

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

31.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 31 October 2022, (i) the Company entered into the
sale and purchase agreement with an independent third
party for the disposal of the entire issued shares of
Sincere Venture Company Limited and its subsidiary,
namely Qianhai Shitong (the “Sincere Venture Group”)
at a consideration of HK$1; (ii) a subsidiary of the Group
entered into the sale and purchase agreement with an
independent third party for the disposal of the entire
issued shares of Heryd International Trade Co., Limited
and its subsidiary, namely Qianhai Guoxing (the “Heryd
International Group”) at a consideration of HK$1. Sincere
Venture Group and Heryd International Group are
collectively referred to as the “Disposal Group”.

Pursuant to each of the aforesaid sale and purchase
agreements, the Group is entitled to receive the
contingent consideration equivalent to 40% of the
recovered balances (net of relevant expenses) of various
receivables of the Disposal Group in the event that the
purchaser is able to recover all or part of such receivables
within three years from the date of the respective sale
and purchase agreements. Such receivables included
certain trade receivables, prepayments for the purchase of
building materials, loan receivables and interest
receivables, which were fully impaired in current or prior
years due to the likelihood of recovering such balances is
considered remote. In the opinion of the Directors, it is
estimated that the fair value of the contingent
consideration at the completion date and the year-end
date was nil, given that the likelihood of recovering the
various receivables of the Disposal Group is considered
remote.

The disposal of the Disposal Group was completed on 30
December 2022.

BE—_FE_=—FF+_H=1—HIFE

31.

HEH B LD F

RZEZ—F+A=+—8" ()4ARQ
R EBUE=HIVEBEWHE
UHEKBER AR MENB AR A
gttE ((kEEE]) 232 FTK
B REBIVET: WANEE—REH
BARE—ZBIYFE=FIVEBEWH
FOULESTFERBRESBERAT
N E M B A B A e R ([ 72 B R
£@8H)) REA1VBT - KHBERR
THEBRBREERBEAIHEEE] -

BEFASEE RS WEHERS
BB & B e = F Rk E 236k 3
DREWHIE - RSB A KEEE
P E S B IE R U TR B Y B 4 5
(B AERERAST) 40% B S AR (B » 3%
ERWFERESE TREREZE SRR
BEEEMANBEMNZE  BREX
MEWFE  ARUREIZE & A
REUEMN MR AFERBTFER
BRE-ZEERAE ERNKOLES
B RIBERERRENEEMEEMN - EET
REKBBERFEANSAREIR
BEAE -

HERRNEEEEER -6
+=A=t+ AR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ2-F_=F+_-A=+—HILFF

31. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 31.

The net liabilities of the Disposal Group at the date of

HEME QR (&)

HERER

HERBZBEFENT

disposal were as follows:

Sincere Heryd

Venture International
Group Group Total

SHE
K Em BREE #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FHET
Property, plant and equipment ME  BEREE 32 - 32
Deposits and other receivables e R H A IR 261 102 363
Bank and cash balances RITRRE E 16 12 28
Amounts due to the Group JE AN 5 B SR (244,785) (168,196) (412,981)
Trade and other payables FERHE 5 BR 5 E A e 5B (5,667) (3,270) (8,937)
Income tax payable JERT TSR - (2,396) (2,396)
Net liabilities disposed of BEHEaEFH (250,143) (173,748) (423,891)

Release of foreign currency FRBR INEK B K R

translation reserve 215 3,466 3,681
Waiver of balances with Disposal HeHERE &R (HE)

Group (Note) 244,785 168,196 412,981
Gain on disposals HE W 5,143 2,086 7,229
Total consideration BRE - - -
Consideration satisfied by: BUATHFRAZARE :

Cash consideration BeRE - - -

Contingent consideration FARE - - -
Net cash outflow arising on disposal:  HEEE 2R &7 HIFHE :

Cash consideration received BEUReRE - - -

Cash and cash equivalents BEHERERREEEY

disposed of (16) (12) (28)
(16) (12) (28)
Note: Btat
Under the sale and purchase agreements, the Group will waive the BEBEEEHSE AEBSNLEETETKRER
current account balances with the Disposal Group upon the completion of % 88 6 SR B A 7 SR AR R o

the disposal.

IREEEIBR IR B PR A A / 2023 FF 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #BZ2-—FE_-_=F+_-A=+—HILFE

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into
the following material related party transactions during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

(a) Key management personnel compensation

Key management includes executive directors of the
Company, financial controllers and company
secretary of the Group. The compensation paid or
payable to key management for employee services
is shown below:

32.

BEREALRS

KR A SRR E Mt H A EE I -
REE_ZE_=ZFR_FT_—_F+=
B=+—HBLtFE AEEFLTUHU
TERBEBEEALRS -

(a) FEEBAEHE

FTEEBABREARANITES
M EERAEENARWE - 5lE
BIRBENKENEEZEBAEBZH
BT

Salaries, allowances and other e R R EMEF
benefits
Retirement benefit scheme

contributions

BB ET B R

2023 2022
__;iézoo __;;5600
FEx TAET
3,360

72

3,432

(b) Shareholders’ loans

On 1 December 2022, the Company entered into
debt restructuring agreement with (i) Wonderland
International Investment Holdings Limited
(“Wonderland Holdings”), a controlling shareholder
of the Company, and (ii) Mr. Pan Lihui, a shareholder
of the Company, pursuant to which Wonderland
Holdings agreed to transfer the entire right to an
aggregated loan of approximately HK$9.8 million
owed by the Company to Mr. Pan Lihui.

158

(b) BERER

RZE-_—_F+=-A—8 ' AR
AIE () EERREEEERERA
Al ([EHEEER] - AAREIER
BRE) : RGi)ELELEE (BA
NAIRR) ST EREADE -
Bt EEERREREIEL
HHEERNNRERERAREEL .8
BEBILZEIRER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ2—F - =+ _HA=+—HILFZ

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 32. EEEALR S (&)

On 4 May 2023, the Company entered into a loan
facilities agreement with Mr. Zhou Lixin ( “Mr.
Zhou"), a shareholder of the Company, with a facility
amount of HK$1 million. The loan was interest
bearing at the rate of 3% per annum. On 7 August
2023, the Company entered into another loan
facilities agreement with Mr. Zhou with a facility
amount of HK$0.5 million which bore fixed interest
rate of 3% per annum. The Company has drawn an
aggregate loan amount of HK$1.4 million as at 31
December 2023. Both loan facilities were unsecured
and repayable within twelve months from the signing
date of the loan facilities agreement which were
classified as current liabilities in the consolidated
statements of financial position as at 31 December
2023.

On 1 December 2022, the Company entered into a
debt restructuring agreement with Wonderland
Holdings and Wonderland International Financial
Holdings Limited ( “Wonderland Financial”), a
fellow subsidiary of the Company, pursuant to which
Wonderland Holdings agreed to transfer the entire
right to an aggregated loan of approximately
HK$28.14 million owed by the Company to
Wonderland Financial.

On 10 February 2023, the Company entered into a
loan facilities agreement with Longma International
Family Services Group Limited ( “Longma’), a
company controlled by Mr. Li, with a facility amount
of HK$1 million which bore fixed interest rate of 3%
per annum. On 15 August 2023, the Company
entered into another loan facilities agreement with
Longma with a facility amount of HK$0.4 million
which bore fixed interest rate of 3% per annum. The
Company has drawn an aggregate loan amount of
HK$1.4 million as at 31 December 2023. Both loan
facilities were unsecured and repayable within
twelve months from the signing date of the loan
facilities agreement which were classified as current
liabilities in the consolidated statements of financial
position as at 31 December 2023.

R-ZZE-_=FHAWMAB AR

HEHEE ((AXE] 7%$
NEIBIR) AL E K rﬁébﬁ%m*

BMECEATEEB T -ZEX
BEMEIRFTE - RZTE=-=
i)\ﬂta AR BIEFE L AERT

—IEERRE RS BEd
%E/%OBE%}%TE @ 7F F FI &
B3% R_ZTE-_=ZF+_A
=+—H XARFERERIE
HBRBIABER L -ZMEE
FREHAREERE BARER
BEWEEEZ AR+ =@EA
WEE ER-_T-_=F+=-A
=t —HZEAEHEARA R P

RZEZ=ZF+=-H—B ' AR
A EREE B I EE R B PR p i
ERAR ((EEEE]) (AR
NARIRREWB AR ATV ERE

i - Bt %ﬁ? AL
EREMEFARAERERE

%Mnemﬁé@nZ%B@ﬂ

RZZFEZ=FZA+TH AR
Eﬁ%%.ﬁ%ﬁ%\ﬁ%ﬁfﬁkglﬁﬁﬁ
A (B R—EBFLEE
FINARD I ERBEZ
MmESHERIBSEET BEF
FMEAEI% -HR_TE_=F)N\A
THRB  ARRIEESFT LS —
BEFBERHZE  MESER04
BEET BEFMNER3%-
RZE-=F+=-—A=+—8"
PINYN TE%FTEHXEM 126 1.4
BEAT ZMBERBMEN R
IR EéEEAE mﬂﬁﬁ%mxx
EZBREFTZEARAEE
)5/\777—¢—1— A=+— EIZ
FEMBRARFEDER/RE
E\T,\

RECEIRRIER AR AT / 2023 F 3k
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

BE—_FE_=—FF+_H=1—HIFE

The advance was unsecured, interest-free, and

repayable on demand.

On 9 February 2023, the Company entered into a
loan facilities agreement with Wonderland
International Finance Holdings Limited
( “Wonderland Finance”), a company controlled by
Mr. Jiang Senlin, the executive director of the
Company, with a facility amount of HK$1 million
which bore fixed interest rate of 3% per annum. On
7 August 2023, the Company entered into another
loan facilities agreement with Wonderland Finance
with a facility amount of HK$0.5 million which bore
fixed interest rate of 3% per annum. The Company
has drawn an aggregate loan amount of HK$1.4
million as at 31 December 2023. Both loan facilities
were unsecured and repayable within twelve months
from the signing date of the loan facilities agreement
which were classified as current liabilities in the
consolidated statements of financial position as at 31

December 2023.

On 9 February 2023, the Company entered into a
loan facilities agreement with Able Plus International
Limited (“Able Plus”), a company controlled by Mr.
Pan Lihui, with a facility amount of HK$1 million
which bore fixed interest rate of 3% per annum. On
7 August 2023, the Company entered into another
loan facilities agreement with Able Plus with a facility
amount of HK$0.4 million which bore fixed interest
rate of 3% per annum. The Company has drawn an
aggregate loan amount of HK$1.4 million as at 31
December 2023. Both loan facilities were unsecured
and repayable within twelve months from the signing
date of the loan facilities agreement which were
classified as current liabilities in the consolidated
statements of financial position as at 31 December

2023.
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32. AEEALRS (R)

BRAEENR  REREERE
}t% o

RZFEZ=FZANH ARQHA
2 Wonderland International
Finance Holdings Limited
([Wonderland Finance] * &—
FHRARNFRITEEEZR—MIEE
ZHIM AT I L ERRE S
RE2EATBEEET BESF
MEBI% MN_T-_=%F)\A
+ B A2 & #Wonderland
Finances] L 5 — B E X E & 1%
EORmESTEAILSAEESE T
BEFMNERAE3I% R_T_-=
F+-—A=+—H ' ARFER
BIENMERBEI4EESTL -
ZMEERMEY AEEKT - B
ERERMEHHZREE ZHB
F+ZEAREE AR ==
FH+—A=+—HZEEHEHR
MNEFREDEARBEE -

RZZE-_=ZF=_ANB ' KARFA
e RBIPR () R AR ([ &
R B HRE LB EL
MARDVERME - &t
EoEATBEBT BEFF
RE3I% MN_E_=FN\H+t
H  ARBHEERIUS—HE
HREmE ESTEA04E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ—ZF

—=F+-AS+—AULFE

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 32. EEEA LR Z (&)
(e) Loan from related parties (Continued) (e) REEBEALZERK(E)
On 17 February 2023, the Company entered into a RZZFEZ=FZA++tH &2
loan facilities agreement with Mr. Tang Zhengbang AEZEREE(ERE] A
(“Mr. Tang"), son of Mr. Li, with a facility amount of TEEMNTF)ILERBME W
HK$1 million which bore fixed interest rate of 3% EOBREREARI ﬁ%}%ﬁ E|
per annum. The Company has drawn an accumulated FFEMEE3I% KR _T =
loan amount of HK$1 million as at 31 December +=ZA=+—8 &2 TE%U'FE
2023. The loan facility was unsecured and repayable ?EHX% AERE1IESEBTT o
within twelve months from the signing date of the HEE REER Héﬁﬁ’\\gmﬂ
loan facilities agreement which were classified as EpmaE BT ZRBAR
current liabilities in the consolidated statements of BE EAER-ZFT_=%F+=AH
financial position as at 31 December 2023. =+—H Z,vT\/\HﬁkHj(/R%q:‘ 5
DEAEREBEE-
(f) Related party transactions ) EBEEAELXRS
2023 2022
—E-= - =—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Interest expenses paid/payable to M T AL A E
FERZ
— Wonderland Finance — Wonderland Finance 245
— Wonderland Holdings — EEIER 90
— Mr. Zhou — BA%HE -
— Longma — &S -
— Mr. Tang — G E -
— Able Plus — 82 R -
The above-mentioned transactions were conducted LL\*%EEAIE% ¥BEREPHE

in the normal course of business, the interest
expenses were charged at terms mutually agreed by
the relevant parties and companies.

33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

34.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any
significant capital commitments (2022: nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in elsewhere of the consolidated
financial statements, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2023
(2022: nil).

33.

34.

- T AB B SR B 5 A A
,\ITTﬁ'z’J;EE’MI FRULER

BRERE
R-T-=#+-A=+—0 &%
i A EAE AR (ZF ==
T ) -

HAREE

Ko & B R TR R Aty PR EE 291
R-F-=#+-A=+—0 &%

By ETMNEASABBE (T
FE) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& & M B RME (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #BZ2-—FE_-_=F+_-A=+—HILFE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 35. ARAUBURRARRHEEEE

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

2024 and is signed on its behalf by:

Li Gang Jiang Senlin
Z= [ EZHM

Director Director
- 4

ENVIRO ENERGY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (a) EDF 2B BEARRET
2023 2022
—_E_-= —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHBRARZRE -
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries AL ENEIE ] 3,724
Deposits, prepayments and Ze - BARER
other receivables H b R FRIE 437
Bank and cash balances RITRIR S R 61
4,222
Total assets EEH#T 4,222
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves BXR#E
Share capital [N 27,120 27,120
Reserves i (80,745) (246,969)
Total equity R (53,625) (219,849)
LIABILITIES =K
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Other borrowings HMER 3,949 -
Current liabilities RBAaE
Other payables H b B 5RI8 4,095 4,060
Shareholders’ loans fR R E = 11,410 9,986
Loans from fellow subsidiaries KERZRMBARZEXR 29,570 28,139
Loans from related parties KEBEHEEATZER 3,887 -
Amounts due to subsidiaries JETHY B A B 5RI8 5,402 181,886
54,364 224,071
Total liabilities =Rig ik 58,313 224,071
Total equity and liabilities EzhBBHEEE 4,222
The statement of financial position has been FER-_ZT_
approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March HERBTYE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ2-F_=F+_-A=+—HILFF

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 3. XRFAMBURRRRFEEED

RESERVE MIOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (%)
(Continued)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) AR EED
Share
Share Capital option Other Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total

RGEE  ExRE BRERE EERE  RHEE ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn T T TiEn TiEn

Asat 1 January 2022 RZE--F-f-H 1,108,395 871 0 391,615 (1,307,182) 193,689
Comprehensive loss 2HEEE
Loss for the year EEER - - - - (M0658)  (440,658)

Transactions with ownersin ~ BEEANEBAZ
their capacity as owners SRETZRS
Lapse of share options BREX N - - (90) - 90 -

As at 31 December 2022 i —a
+ZA=1t-H 1,108,395 871 - 391515 (1,747,750) (246,969)

Asat 1 January 2023 RZZZ=£-A-H 1,108,395 8N - 391515  (1,747,750)  (246,969)

Comprehensive income 2ENE
Profit for the year EREA 166,224 166,224

As at 31 December 2023 i

bt 3
A=1+-A 1,108,395 8N 391,515  (1,581,526) (80,745)

BEEBRRRERAT /202355 1063



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ2-—F-=F+_-H=+—HIFE

36. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 36. EEEANRELS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EBERBEESTHRAEME
The remuneration of each director is set out below: BEEHMEIIMNT
For the year ended 31 December 2023: BE-_E-_=5+=-H=+—8
EFE:

Emoluments paid to or receivable by the person in respect of
a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
—RATREAES (ERATARAENBLAAREZES) 2B
EEXfRERZzME
Salaries,  Employer's
allowances”  contribution
Director’s and other  to pension Discretionary
fee benefits scheme bonus Total
e RER  BHEE
Esne Bt EA EEHX RfsieA @3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TiERx TR TR TER

Executive Directors HiTES

Mr. Li Gang FHEE

Mr. Pan Lihui BUBLE

Mr. Jiang Senlin ZRMEE

Mr. Cao Zhongshu (Appointed  EF&F 44 (R -S-ZF
on 30 June 2023) ~AZTREZR)

Independent Non-executive BIXHTES

Directors
Mr. Zhong Jian Bk
Mr.DuHongwei (Resigned ~ HEERE(R-T-Z&
on 5 March 2023) ZARAR{E)
Mr. Liu Qin Rk
Mr. Tan Xiangyi (Appointedon iz L4 (RZFZ=F
5March2023and resigned = F T EHEZIRR
on 30 June 2023) “ERZERAZTHEE)
Mr. Pan Yongye (Appointed ~ BXELE(R-E-=F
on 30 June 2023) ANAZTHEZE)
Total 5t
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ2-F_=F+_-A=+—HILFF

36. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 36. EEREAIREZS(E)
(Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERBRETHAENE ()

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022: BE-T-_—_F+=-_A=+—H
EFE:

Emoluments paid to or receivable by the person in respect of
aperson’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
—EANIRECES (BRAARASENBLAEH ES) L R
EEXHAENEE
Salaries, Employer's
allowances  contribution

Director's and other topension  Discretionary
fee benefits scheme bonus Total
#e 2ER  RieitE
ESHE EtRT EFHR MiERA it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TR TiEn TR TR

Executive Directors BiTES

M. Li Geng BRI . 780 18 - 79
Mr. Pan Lihui EELE - 780 18 - 798
Mr. Jiang Senlin ZRMEE - 780 18 500 1,298

Independent Non-executive BUFHTES

Directors
NI Zhong Jian BH%E 180 - - - 180
Mr. Du Hongwei HEELE

(Resigned on 5 March 2023)  (R=ZE==F= RAAE() 180 - - - 180
Mr. Liu Qin fz%E 180 - - - 180
Total 5t 540 2,340 54 500 3434

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits (b) EZEMKER

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by REBEEZT-_=F+_A=+—
any directors in respect of their other services in EIJJ:EE MEEEHREEHEE
connection with the management of the affairs of BANRSEMB AR EHAE
the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking during it AR 75 78 S AF ok B U A TR K AR
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). M(ZEZZF - &\&) -

BREERERERAT/ 202345% 165
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ—ZF

36. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation
for the early termination of the appointment during
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

No consideration was provided to third parties for
making available of director’s services during the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there
was no arrangement in relation to loans, quasi-loans
and other dealing arrangements in favour of the
directors of the Company, the controlled bodies
corporate by and the connected entities with such
director (2022: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in note 32, no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation
to Group's business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year (2022: Nil).

—=F+-AS+—HULFE

36. EEwEARER (&)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)
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HILFE  SMERERHESR
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BFHENES EE2ZEHZE
I&@L%?%EEAZE
BRERREMIE 2EHR

REBE-_T_=F+"A=*1—
BIEFE  SEANRARRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MBmRMEE(F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

37.

38.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 25 January 2024, the Company entered into a
settlement agreement with certain creditors of the Group,
including Wonderland Financial, Wonderland Finance, Mr.
Pan Lihui, Mr. Zhou, Longma, Able Plus and Mr. Tang,
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed
to capitalise the indebted amount owed to these creditors
by the Company, the creditors has conditionally agreed to
subscribe for, and the Company has conditionally agreed
to allot and issue 896,993,536 capitalisation shares at the
issue price of HK$0.05 per capitalisation share under a
specific mandate of the Company to be sought at the
extraordinary general meeting. As at 31 December 2023,
the carrying amount of the total indebted amount owed to
these creditors by the Company was approximately
HK$44.9 million.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28
March 2024.

HE-—T-—=F+-A=1+—HIFFE

37.

38.

BEMKREE

R-Z-_WNE—F-_+HH  AQA
HAEEETERA (BREREZSH -
Wonderland Finance * & 3 8 7/t &
BeE -BEBE EARARGEE)FL
BEHE B ARFREBEHR
EBARRGERZEERANELR S
BMEKRL BEEASEKERERE
MARREBEGHREREARR A
RRRFRAE E SRR ER
BITEERENIRMDO0.068 il %
N #%77896,993,536 I & A1t i% 15 °
RZTE_=F+-_A=+—8 ' &RQ
AERZEEREANEREENERT
B BIMIBEBIT -

HERE M BERER

GEMBHRERERNR_ZE_NF=A
“tNBEEESH AN RENZE-

IREEEIBR IR B PR A A / 2023 FF 3R
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Five-Year Financial Summary

AFEMHHR

A summary of the published consolidated results and the
consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five

financial years is set as below:

Results ES |

Revenue WA

Loss for the year attributable to A GIHEE A
the owners of the Company G FEERE

Assets and liabilities BEEREE

Total assets EELH

Total liabilities BELH

Non-controlling interests IR =

Capital and reserves attributable to A2 A1 A A JES

owners of the Company

BA R

2023
—me=

—_—

HK$'000
FRT

531,504

(35,750)

2023
—EBC=HF
HK$'000
FTEx

304,604
(368,488)
(15,796)

(79,680)

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+t—-HLEE

AEERBERAMBFREZE AMMEE
B GeBEMAEHEFIIMT

2022 2021 2020 2019
“E--F —R-—F —2-%F —ZT-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FET FET
269,577 321,844 54,054 56,883
(257,028) (357,773) (25,776) (25,086)
As at 31 December
W+=ZHA=+-8
2022 2021 2020 2019
“E--F —B-—F ZZ-%F —ZT-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FET FET
394,125 555,312 879,226 811,167
(434,296)  (334,194)  (309,514) (272,894
(4,508) - - -
(44,679) 221,118 569,712 538,273
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